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Chief Executive’s report
Tā te Tumuaki rīpoata
I am pleased to present the 2016/17 annual report for Manatū Taonga Ministry for Culture and
Heritage.
Arts, culture, heritage, media and sports are part of our everyday lives, yet they lift us out of the
everyday. They express who we are individually and collectively. Engagement with our heritage tells
us where we’ve come from and informs where we are going. Cultural expression is central to a
vibrant, healthy society. Cultural expression also reflects and reinforces what it means to be a New
Zealander, helping to build connection and cohesion. This is incredibly important.
We connect people from all walks of life to our culture and heritage and bring our past to life in many
ways. The Ministry’s websites had more than 10 million hits, with our comprehensive encyclopedia
Te Ara recording 5,971,813 and NZHistory recording 3,659,220 for the 2016/17 year. The Walking
with an Anzac schools resource, through the WW100 programme, has seen 800 school visits and
5,900 factsheets downloaded by teachers. Grants of $10.827 million from the Regional Culture and
Heritage Fund have gone to support cultural institutions throughout the country and the newly
established Heritage EQUIP fund, $12 million over four years, is supporting heritage building owners
to earthquake strengthen them. Further afield the Cultural Diplomacy International Programme,
backing New Zealand’s reputation and identity internationally, saw support for the Venice Biennale
and the Indian Ink theatre company’s tour of India. These achievements show we have a great deal
to be proud of.
The creative sector also makes a major contribution to New Zealand’s economic growth and
sustainable prosperity. Every year the sector contributes billions of dollars to the economy and
supports thousands of jobs across the country. Our creative industries build talent and skills and
produce high value and weightless products for export.
Figures from NZ On Air show the steady increase in New Zealand screen content continues with
13,126 hours broadcast. And the majority of New Zealanders who believe NZ On Air supports
television content important to New Zealanders has risen from 75 per cent to 78 per cent. More
people went to our New Zealand movies with attendance up from 4 million in 2015/16 to 4.7 million.
Creative New Zealand has increased the number of community arts grants made through the
Creative Communities Scheme from 1,725 to 1,806 and attendance at events it supports has
increased from 1,250,415 to 1,286,665. Both the New Zealand Symphony Orchestra and Royal New
Zealand Ballet have extended their reach to more centres throughout the country.
Budget 2017 saw an additional $11.4 million, over the next four years, invested in RNZ. This new
money is assisting its flagship service to build capability and invest in new technology to maintain
and reach new audiences. Our work continues to update the Broadcasting Act 1989 to ensure it is
fit for purpose in a converging world where content is provided across various platforms.
The Ministry’s 2016 Performance Improvement Framework report concluded that our challenge is to
lead the cultural sector to deliver improved performance. It said we should focus on articulating our
strategic direction and desired outcomes in a way that is memorable and unifying. To this end we
have a new purpose statement: Promoting a confident and connected culture and have developed
a clearer statement of our strategy to deliver on that intent. We are also working with the 15 agencies
we fund to better tell the story of the value and impact the cultural sector has for New Zealanders.
We have capable, knowledgeable and passionate people. But we are small. We need to maximise
our impact, and the impact of the wider sector by working collaboratively. For example, with partner
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agencies including the New Zealand Defence Force, Department of Internal Affairs (DIA), and
Wellington City Council, we are making Pukeahu National War Memorial Park truly the national place
for commemoration and remembrance where people can engage with our military history and
heritage.
Critical to our future strategy is our relationship with the Treaty partner; how we engage with Māori,
as well as how we connect New Zealanders with Māori culture. We have Treaty settlement protocols
and relationship arrangements with more than 50 iwi, hapū and whānau groups and have developed
an innovative framework with Te Papa, Ngā Taonga Sound and Vision and the DIA to collaborate
on these. We’ve also had input into the development of the Māori language strategy and given advice
on Māori heritage sites, taonga tuturū, Māori arts and performance, and commemorations for
Waitangi Day. The successful biennial Te Matatini festival held this year in Hastings has tremendous
economic and social benefits which sit alongside its cultural aspirations. We are also deep into the
planning for the commemorations of the 250th anniversary of the first on-shore meetings between
Pākehā and Māori through the First Encounters 250 programme.
It’s been a stimulating 12 months which has meant some real changes for the Ministry and the sector
as a whole. I look forward to making the most of this momentum and building on progress in the
2017/18 year.

Paul James
Chief Executive
Manatū Taonga Ministry for Culture and Heritage
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About the cultural sector
Ko te rāngai toi, ahurea, taonga
Our distinctive culture is core to what makes New Zealand a great place to live. Cultural expression,
engagement and understanding are fundamental to a vibrant and healthy society and to individual
wellbeing and help define what it is to be a New Zealander.
Culture is produced by creative and innovative individuals, groups and organisations. The activities,
goods and services they create, produce, distribute and present to the world have social and
economic value as well as cultural benefits. Cultural expression expands individual capacities, helps
bind society and provides jobs and innovation in the economy.
Māori culture is central to our sense of New Zealand’s uniqueness as a place, a society and a nation.
Strong partnerships between iwi-Māori and the Crown will ensure Māori culture is protected and
flourishes.
Leading New Zealand’s rapid demographic transformation, Auckland is emerging as a vibrant hub
that celebrates our strong Pacific location and Asian links.
Culture strongly influences how we think and feel about who we are as a people.
Government makes a significant contribution to the broad cultural sector each year. In 2016/17
Government invested around $370 million in heritage, the arts, media and sport through Vote Arts,
Culture and Heritage and Vote Sport and Recreation, and also considered policy and legislative
settings, in particular in the media sector, to ensure they remain fit for purpose. Support for the
cultural sector is also provided through other public sources, most notably education and local
government. A further $100 million is provided by the Lottery Grants Board each year to four key
cultural sector agencies in their capacity as Statutory Bodies.
The cultural sector, in turn, contributes to achieving a wide range of outcomes across other
government portfolios.

How we use the word “culture”
The Ministry uses the word “culture” in a broad way. Culture can be the attitudes, customs and
beliefs that define who we are. Culture can also include our heritage and taonga, the arts,
media, sport and recreation.
We use the term in its broadest sense and across all usages. We include the cultures of all the
peoples in New Zealand and honour the special status of tangata whenua. Māori culture is at
the heart of New Zealand’s distinctive cultural identity.
What we include in the “cultural sector” and “funded agencies”
When this Annual Report refers to the “cultural sector” we are referring to the mixed (private
and public) economy of producers, distributors, consumers and funders of cultural goods and
services. “Funded agencies” refers only to those agencies funded directly through the Ministry
under Vote Arts, Culture and Heritage and Vote Sport and Recreation.
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The Ministry’s role
We maximise the value of culture to increase New Zealanders’ living standards by:


Providing advice and information so that the best decisions can be made



Giving effect to the decisions of Ministers



Connecting government with the cultural sector through our interpretation, facilitation across
sectors and influence of others



Delivering cultural goods, services and protections that Ministers have chosen to supply
directly.

The Ministry supports the Minister for Arts, Culture and Heritage and the Minister for Sport and
Recreation, providing advice on where government best focuses its interventions in the cultural
sector. We seek to ensure that Vote funding is invested as effectively and efficiently as possible, that
it delivers the best outcomes for New Zealanders, and that government priorities are met.
Some delivery activities we are directed to undertake ourselves. For example, the Ministry has a
strong track record of producing high quality historical and reference resources; these days they are
primarily web-based. The Ministry has a leading role in the provision of national commemorations
(including through the WW100 programme) and a range of responsibilities in relation to the
protection of cultural treasures and taonga – for example, under the Protected Objects Act 1975 and
the Regional Culture and Heritage Fund. We are also responsible for the National War Memorial,
and have developed Pukeahu, the National War Memorial Park.
The Ministry’s work prioritises cultural outcomes but recognises their association with educational,
economic and social benefits. We work closely, therefore, with a significant number of other
government departments, as well as with cultural agencies.

About the Ministry
The Ministry has a baseline operating budget of around $15 million each year. We currently have
additional funding for specific projects related to the centenary of the First World War and Heritage
EQUIP.
We have a current complement of 121 FTEs across cultural policy, monitoring of funded agencies,
service delivery (including publishing, commemorations and Pukeahu), and organisational
performance.

The Ministry’s role in the cultural sector
A vibrant cultural sector demands durable policy settings and a level of investment to support thriving
cultural activity. The Ministry has policy, legislative, delivery, regulatory, funding and monitoring
responsibilities throughout a cultural sector that is extraordinarily diverse.
The Ministry is well placed to have an overview of the full range of cultural sector activities and
issues, and to inform thinking, within government and the sector, on how support for culture can
contribute to government’s goals. The Ministry is able to maintain oversight of issues of common
interest across the cultural sector, and of emerging trends that shape its development.
As well as channelling direct government funding, the Ministry is focussed on working with key nongovernment groups in the cultural sector to ensure that the government’s interventions are the right
ones. For example, the creative sector’s economic contribution has been rising at twice the rate of
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the overall economy and we want to ensure that the regulatory and policy environment in New
Zealand supports this growth.

The Ministry’s role with funded agencies
Through Vote Arts, Culture and Heritage the government invests about $320m in the Crown Entities
and other bodies that deliver a range of high-quality cultural interventions, products and services to
New Zealanders. A primary role for the Ministry, therefore, is the monitoring and support of those 15
agencies. These agencies include organisations which – through funding, regulation, advocacy
and/or relationship building – adjust the environment to support the provision of improved cultural
experiences to New Zealanders. Examples include NZ On Air and Heritage New Zealand. Others,
such as Te Matatini and the New Zealand Symphony Orchestra, deliver directly to consumers.
The Ministry heads this cluster of directly funded agencies, engaging on specific policy, research,
partnerships and development areas, including the activities being undertaken through the WW100
programme. Agencies collaborate on a range of initiatives to improve value for money and develop
new sources of funding outside government, including aligning some funding strategies.
The Ministry works with our funded agencies to ensure they remain fit for purpose in a rapidly
changing environment.
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Organisational improvement for the Ministry
Ropu Whakawhanake mo te Manatu
During the 2016/17 year the Ministry established an organisational improvement programme to be
prepared for upcoming challenges and priorities over the next few years.
The programme is supported by a range of linked initiatives which contribute to ensuring a more
resilient, focused and stronger performing Ministry.

One of the key drivers for change was the Performance Improvement Framework (PIF) reviews of
the Ministry conducted in 2014 and 2016. A PIF is a review of an agency's fitness-for-purpose that
looks at the current state of an agency, then how well placed it is to deal with the issues that confront
it in the medium-term future.
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The PIF process identified the Ministry needs to:
1.

better articulate its common purpose and use this to prioritise for cumulative and collective
impact. This is important given the Ministry’s broad mandate and diverse activities;

2.

perform more work on its organisational culture to give emphasis to being more proactive,
adaptable and more outward facing;

3.

shift to a focus on strategic outcomes for the sector by focussing monitoring effort at the
strategic, whole-of-system performance level.

Progress on the organisational improvement programme to date has included:


The Ministry’s common purpose and a new simplified strategy have been agreed. Five new
strategic properties that underpin our common purpose of “Promoting a confident and
connected culture.’



The new simplified strategy will be reflected in the Ministry’s strategic intentions for future
years. This annual report is based on the five sector priorities in the existing Cultural Sector
Strategic Framework 2014-2018.



Core values and behaviours which underpin the Ministry’s organisational culture have been
discussed in a series of workshops involving all staff. These are being refined into clear and
concise statements of our organisational culture.



Work with the sector on a cultural sector narrative has significantly advanced. Sector agencies
have participated in a series of workshops to develop a shared framework for talking about
and measuring the value cultural activities create for New Zealanders. For more information
see page 29 below.



A review of the Ministry’s approach to monitoring the performance of its funded agencies has
been completed, and a new more strategic approach is being implemented.

Work on the organisational improvement programme continues into 2017/18.
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Outcomes Framework
Pou Tarawaho Whakataunga
OUTCOMES FRAMEWORK
Government
priorities

Outcomes
for New
Zealand

Responsibly
managing the
Government’s
finances

A higher quality of life in our
communities, towns and
cities

Vision
Sector
outcomes

Building a more
competitive and
productive
economy

Delivering better
public services

A growing workforce that
drives innovation, creativity
and collaboration

Rebuilding Christchurch

A culture that is unique, distinctive
and valued in a globalised world

New Zealand’s distinctive culture enriches our lives
Create

Preserve

Engage

Excel

Sector
priorities

Fostering
inclusive New
Zealand identity

Supporting
Māori cultural
aspirations

Ministry
outputs

Fund and
Monitor

Advise

Deliver

Regulate

 Provide advice to
support decision
making by
Ministers on
government policy
relating to arts,
heritage and
media

 Maintain war graves and
access to memorials and
other places of national
significance

 Administer legislation
to protect Māori and
New Zealand’s
cultural heritage

 Collect and preserve oral
history and digital stories

 Ensure legislation
and policy settings
remain fit for purpose
in relation to fastmoving technological
advancements

 Performance
monitoring
and
development
of arts,
heritage,
media and
sport Votefunded
agencies

Front-footing
transformative
technology

 Advise on and
process Board
appointments
 Negotiate services
to support
Ministers including
speeches and
correspondence

Improving
cultural asset
sustainability

 Promote cultural events
and significant
commemorations
 Information on and
communication of New
Zealand and Māori
history, society and
culture

Measuring and
maximising public value

 Delivery of international
cultural diplomacy
projects
 Delivery of the First
World War centenary
operating legacy projects
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Non-financial Performance
Te Whakatutukitanga hāunga
te tahua

Performance against the cultural sector priorities
Te whakatairite o te whakahaere me ngā whāinga nui o
te rāngai
This section of the annual report describes the Ministry’s 2016/17 performance against the priorities
identified in the Cultural Sector Strategic Framework.
The Ministry is uniquely placed in the cultural sector to have an overview of the full range of sector
activities and issues, and to inform thinking, within government and the sector, on how support for
culture can contribute to the Government’s wider priorities.
Government funds a wide variety of cultural activity through Vote Arts, Culture and Heritage and
Vote Sport and Recreation. The Ministry and our funded agencies work together in a cohesive and
collaborative sector which delivers a diverse range of experiences and benefits.
Our funded agencies are:
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Culture sector priorities
Ngā whāinga nui o te rāngai toi, ahurea, taonga
The Cultural Sector Strategic Framework 2014-2018 sets out five sector priorities that the Ministry
must attend to in order to maximise the difference we make for New Zealanders in achieving our
sector outcomes (create, preserve, engage and excel). The five sector priorities are:
Fostering inclusive New Zealand identity
New Zealand’s demographic profile is changing in terms of age, ethnicity and location. There is a
new sense emerging of what it is to be a New Zealander, how we see ourselves and how we present
to others as an attractive place to live, work and visit. The Ministry is working with other departments
and cultural agencies to support examination and expression of what it means to be a New
Zealander, to foster an inclusive New Zealand and a positive identity internationally.
Supporting Māori cultural aspirations
Māori culture and heritage is a defining feature of New Zealand identity in the world. The preservation
and expression of Māori language, arts, culture and heritage need to be well supported. Cultural
agencies are committed to working in partnership with iwi/Māori to advance their long-term cultural
aspirations for the benefit of Māori and all New Zealanders. In the post-settlement environment iwi
are better positioned to advance their own cultural aspirations and will demand a high level of
responsiveness from Government and its agencies.
Front-footing transformative technology
New Zealanders want access to the best of what the world has to offer and high quality New Zealand
content which shines through in a crowded, borderless global environment. Changing technology
continues to impact on traditional business models and to provide new opportunities for all cultural
agencies. Cultural goods and services are increasingly able to be produced, distributed and
accessed at low cost to almost everyone. Through the development of digital skills, online rights
policies, trans-media, new mobile applications and other innovative business solutions, New Zealand
creative talent and organisations are positioning themselves to control and manage their endeavours
to reach a wider audience. The Ministry is working to support an environment where skills,
infrastructure and intellectual property rights support innovation and creation.
Improving cultural asset sustainability
New Zealand’s cultural activity is sustained by an infrastructure of tangible and intangible cultural
assets built over time. With static or declining baselines for public funding, the Ministry, cultural
agencies, iwi and local government are working together to plan and prioritise investment and to
increase revenue from non-government sources. Success will require the development and
maintenance of new partnerships and identification of smarter ways of operating.
Measuring and maximising public value
Cultural expression contributes to a vibrant and healthy democratic society. The cultural agencies
are working together to better understand and increase the public value of our cultural goods and
services, including their economic and social benefits.
The following section details what the Ministry is doing to contribute to these priorities and how we
can measure success.
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Fostering inclusive New Zealand identity
Te whāngai o tō Aotearoa Tuakiri Whakawhāiti
What is the objective?
New Zealanders have a strong sense of attachment to New Zealand, value diversity, and are actively
participating in our cultural life and democracy. New Zealand identity is strong globally.
This aspiration is central to all of the Ministry’s work. A fundamental role for the Ministry is to enable
and support the evolution and expression of identity and of a sense of nationhood. Ultimately the
Ministry’s work is all about telling our diverse stories to promote and build a sense of belonging,
identity and connection.

How we know if this is being achieved
Measure

Source

How do we measure this?

Target
(from SOI)

Result

Sense of
belonging to
New Zealand

General Social
Survey –
Statistics New
Zealand

The Well-being Statistics released Increasing
in July 2017 reported an average
rating of 8.6/10 (or 86%) for
sense of belonging to NZ.

The 8.6/10
for 2016/17 is
the baseline
year.

Ease of
expressing
identity in
New Zealand

General Social
Survey –
Statistics New
Zealand

A question about identity was first
included in the General Social
Survey in 2014 and has set the
baseline for this measure: 86.3%
of total population able to express
their identity.
The 2017 results showed that
87% say it is ‘easy’ or ‘very easy’
to express identity in New
Zealand.

Increasing

Increasing

Positive
global
perceptions of
New Zealand

Anholt-Gfk
Roper Nation
Brands Index

New Zealand Trade and
Enterprise no longer makes these
results publicly available. We
have been unable to establish a
suitable replacement dataset for
this measure to date.

Increasing

Comparison
data not
available

New
Zealanders
who report
active
participation
in arts and
culture

New
Zealanders and
the arts survey
– Creative New
Zealand

The baseline is 89% based on
2014 results. We expect the next
survey results in February 2018.
Active participation includes
attendance and participation in
arts and culture.

Increasing

Comparison
data not
available until
February
2018

Ministry for Culture and Heritage Annual Report 2016-17/

14

Measure
New
Zealanders
who report
active
participation
in sport and
recreation
Participation
in Māori
cultural
activities

Source

How do we measure this?

Target
(from SOI)

Result

Active New
Zealand survey:
– Sport New
Zealand

The baseline is 74% based on
2013/14 results. We expect the
results of the next survey in early
2018.

Increasing

Comparison
data not
available until
2018

Te Kupenga
2013 –
Statistics New
Zealand

The baseline is:

Increasing

Comparison
data not
available until
2019

Increasing

Comparison
data not
available until
2019

70% of Māori adults say it was at
least somewhat important for
them to be involved in things to
do with Māori culture.
54% of Māori adults thought of
their ancestral marae as their
tūrangawaewae (place of
belonging).
62% of Māori adults have been to
their ancestral marae and 34%
have done so in the last 12
months.
We expect the results of the 2018
census in 2019.

Use of Māori
language

Census 2013:
Proportion of
Māori able to
converse in te
reo Māori
- Statistics New
Zealand

The baseline is:
55% of Māori adults have some
ability to speak te reo Māori.
21.3% of Māori adults can hold a
conversation in te reo Māori.
11% of Māori adults could speak
te reo Māori very well or well.
We expect the results of the 2018
census in 2019.

Measuring success
The Ministry has identified high-level indicators of attachment and identity and of participation in arts,
culture and sports that will help to demonstrate long-term trends. Many of these are reliant on surveys
or research on three or four-year cycles. We are working with other departments to identify shared
indicators. Ultimately we hope to collaboratively develop long-term trend data to enable ongoing
analysis.
One way in which New Zealanders build connections and a sense of identity is through active
participation in arts, culture and sports. New Zealanders have high levels of reported participation.
Māori language and culture is central to New Zealand’s culture and identity. The work of the Ministry
and its agencies is important in supporting Māori participation in Māori language and culture. It is
also important in supporting all other New Zealanders to access and engage with Māori culture and
Ministry for Culture and Heritage Annual Report 2016-17/
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heritage.
The following sets out key initiatives the Ministry progressed in the 2016/17 year that, among other
things, helped to foster New Zealand identity.
Contributing a cultural perspective to cross-departmental work
Cultural connections and identity play a key role in supporting an inclusive and cohesive society.
The Ministry is represented on a cross-department Social Cohesion Governance Group established
by the State Services Commission. The role of the Group is to ensure an integrated approach across
government to protect and enhance social cohesion in New Zealand. Social cohesion can be
considered the ‘glue’ that holds society together; the OECD defines a cohesive society as one which
“works towards the well-being of all its members, fights exclusion, and marginalisation, creates a
sense of belonging, promotes trust, and offers its members the opportunity of upward mobility”. The
Ministry provides a cultural perspective to the work and is looking at ways to work with other
departments to provide opportunities for diverse communities to tell their stories
The Ministry has also provided the Governance Group with the services of a Principal Advisor
through a three-month secondment to the DIA which is the lead for the Governance Group and
associated work.
National Commemorations Programme
Shared commemorative activities are a powerful means of connecting New Zealanders to their
collective history, heritage and identity and of providing opportunities for participation in cultural
events. The WW100 commemorations continue to be a major focus, and Pukeahu National War
Memorial Park is increasingly regarded as an important national facility. It provides a platform for
the expression and exploration of ideas about identity, nationhood, citizenship and connection;
themes of this nature are also addressed in the education programme centred at the Queen
Elizabeth II Pukeahu Education Centre.
Considerable preparatory work took place in 2016/17 towards an effective commemoration in 2019
of the 250th anniversary of the first on-shore meetings between Māori and Europeans. First
Encounters 250 received new funding in Budget 2017, and is being planned in association with
regional groups at the various landing sites. The Ministry is also supporting the Ministry for Women
in its role as lead agency for the commemoration of the 125th anniversary of Women’s Suffrage.
Landmarks Whenua Tohunga: project and pilot
Heritage sites are an important means of connecting New Zealanders’ and visitors’ to our history
and heritage. Landmarks is a joint initiative developed and implemented by the Ministry, Heritage
New Zealand and the Department of Conservation. The programme uses a common brand to
network New Zealand’s important heritage sites to tell coherent and compelling New Zealand stories,
strengthen New Zealand identity and boost regional economies through enhanced tourism
experiences. It will deliver quality visitor experiences, better link and tell the stories of our heritage
sites, and improve management of our historic and significant heritage sites.
The concept was developed in 2015/16, and moved from concept to a pilot in Northland in 2016/17.
Nine Northland sites were selected to test the concept and work to tell our stories better at our
important places. The sites included in the pilot are Waitangi Treaty Grounds, Kororipo Heritage
Park, Rangihoua Heritage Park, Te Waimate Mission, Ruapekapeka Pā, Māngungu Mission,
Pompallier Mission and Printery, Cape Brett, and Clendon House.
The pilot has been evaluated and found to be successful. It will now be implemented nationwide
through a roll out to regions over the next four years. The next region is Otago, to be rolled out from
1 December 2017, followed by the West Coast and other regions as funding becomes available.
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Research and publishing
The Ministry creates and presents a wide range of digital and printed content that supports New
Zealanders’ sense of belonging and identity by telling their individual and collective stories and
building understanding of events and issues. A significant output includes the regular updating and
publishing of new content on our flagship websites, Te Ara – the Encyclopedia of New Zealand, and
NZHistory – New Zealand History Online.
We are also working on a nationally significant project, Te Taiwhakaea Treaty Settlement Stories, to
capture and publish audio-visual stories related to the Treaty settlement process. This involves
broadcast quality interviews with iwi and national leaders, and working with iwi to record, co-create
and publish their narratives about the process. This project will build on existing expertise and
content and provide the opportunity to develop new multi-media publishing approaches.
Protecting our heritage
The Ministry further supports New Zealanders’ connections with their culture and identity by
protecting and caring for significant heritage items and symbols of our national identity. This work
involves the protection of newly found taonga tūturu and other historic objects; caring for war graves
and memorials; and overseeing the use of national symbols and titles such as our flag, royal
emblems and titles, and the term Anzac.
Media
Policies which support how our diverse stories are told on air, in cinemas and across increasingly
accessible digital platforms ensure New Zealanders engage with and contribute to those stories.
Key work in this area has included preparation of a bill to extend New Zealand’s broadcasting
standards to on-demand content to ensure consistent values across platforms, and work with
community radio stations to ensure their ongoing compliance with the Regional Community
Broadcasting Framework.
The Ministry’s support for Radio New Zealand International and work with the National Pacific Radio
Trust is a key means of connecting Pacific communities in New Zealand and across the Pacific
nations. The development of co-production agreements supports our nations’ stories being told both
here and internationally. During the year the Ministry finalised a renegotiated co-production
agreement with Canada.
The Ministry provided approximately $24.9 million in support to 12 productions through the New
Zealand Screen Production Grant, including Hunt for the Wilderpeople and Chasing Great – the
highest ever grossing New Zealand feature film and documentary respectively. In the same period
the New Zealand Film Commission offered approximately $14 million in production financing to 12
feature film projects.
Other policy work
Other policy work supports the Ministry, its funded agencies, and the wider cultural sector to enhance
New Zealanders’ access to and participation in a wide range of arts and cultural activities; to leverage
funding and support; to articulate the value of what we do; and to build strategic coherence across
the sector.
The Cultural Diplomacy International Programme supports New Zealand’s reputation and identity
internationally. This programme comprises a series of globally focused projects and activities. Two
projects were undertaken between 1 July 2016 and 30 June 2017 (set out on page 43).
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Supporting Māori cultural aspirations
Tautokona ngā moemoeā a Iwi a Māori
What is the objective?
Iwi/Māori, Manatū Taonga Ministry for Culture and Heritage and cultural sector organisations have
strengthened capacity to advance opportunities for all New Zealanders to benefit from engagement
with Māori culture.1
In 2016/2017 we refreshed Te Arataki – the Ministry’s strategy to support Iwi/Māori cultural
aspirations, in preparation for the next Four Year Plan.

How we know if this is being achieved
Measure

How do we measure this?

Target (from
SOI)

Result

Proportion of iwi with
whom the Ministry has an
‘active’ relationship

The baseline was set at 24%
based on the number of ‘active’
relationships that the Ministry
had with iwi during 2015/16.
This remains the same for
2016/17.

Increasing

Same as prior
year.

Number of publicly funded
cultural agencies with codesigned iwi initiatives

The baseline was set at 5 as 5
of our funded agencies worked
with a range of iwi in 2015/16.
This number has remained the
same for 2016/17.

Increasing

Same as prior
year.

Te reo capability
programmes in publicly
funded cultural agencies

The Ministry continues to work
with Te Puni Kōkiri and sector
agencies to develop internal Te
Reo capability and sector
collaboration plans. To date 4
agencies have agreed in their
LOE’s with the Minister to
develop a Māori Language
Action Plan. 2 This work is
evolving with Maihi Karauna
strategy development. Once it is
complete a baseline can be set.

Increasing

Baseline is
expected to be
developed in
2017/18.

Measuring success
The following success measures are guided by the Ministry’s outcomes framework.
Active relationships
‘Active’ relationships are relationships with post settlement iwi who are ready to engage with Manatū
Taonga in a dialogue about their own priorities.

From the Ministry’s 2016 Four Year Plan
A collective impact statement is expected to be further developed in 2017/18 as part of the Government’s Maihi
Karauna Strategy development.
1
2
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Iwi/Māori Priorities
The emphasis on initiating connections with iwi from the starting point of respecting their priorities is
an important way of ensuring that the Ministry is responsive and adaptive to the needs of iwi/Māori
and can work with them to advance their cultural aspirations.
Co-designed iwi/Māori and sector agency initiatives
A co-designed iwi/Māori initiative is where an iwi/Māori entity and the Ministry, and/or one or more
of our funded agencies identify, agree and work towards a common objective that supports an
iwi/Māori aspirational goal that has been identified with or by iwi/Māori.
The following agencies have noted five iwi/Māori and sector co-designed initiatives:
1.

Te Papa Tongarewa Museum of New Zealand (Iwi Exhibition Programme)

2.

Ngā Taonga Sound and Vision (Kaitiaki relationships that link the collections to identifiable
people and places, ensuring appropriate long-term care for and access to sound and moving
image taonga)

3.

Pouhere Taonga Heritage New Zealand (working with places of significance to Māori)

4.

Te Matatini (iwi hosting of biannual Te Matatini National Kapa Haka Festival held March 2017
in Ahuriri-Napier Hastings)

5.

Toi Aotearoa Creative New Zealand (Māori Arts funding).

Maihi Māori and Te Reo capability programmes in cultural agencies
Following the establishment of Te Mātāwai (the organisation responsible for leading the Maihi Māori
strategy to revitalise te reo Māori) the Ministry and its funded agencies are participating in the
development of the Maihi Karauna (Crown Māori Language) Strategy.
The Ministry continues to work closely with Te Mātāwai, the agencies we fund, and other cultural
sector agencies to explore how we can collectively contribute to developing these strategies. As part
of this process agencies will consider their internal te reo capability. In 2016/17 the Ministry
developed an environmental scan of sector funded agency activity and reported on that through Te
Taura Whiri I Te Reo Māori in the annual te reo report to Cabinet3.
Radio New Zealand (RNZ) has a policy of, among other measures, having “Te Reo Maori being
heard in almost every RNZ news bulletin”, and in training on-air staff “in Te Reo to develop their
knowledge and ability to speak”.
Manatū Taonga Te Reo Māori Action Plan 2016/17
The Ministry was an early adopter in 2015/16 of the Māori language planning process developed by
Te Taura Whiri. In 2016/17 we refreshed the Manatū Taonga Te Reo Māori Action Plan to ensure
alignment with the Crown and Māori –Te Reo strategies and the Ministry’s Māori strategy, Te Arataki.
Iwi/Māori Relationships
In 2016/17 we co-ordinated and influenced relationships to support the following government and
Ministry priorities and events:

3

“Te Rautaki Reo Māori- The Māori Language Strategy 2014 Annual Report’ for the year 2015/16.
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Heritage lands


Facilitated the transfer of the heritage land title at Rangiriri Redoubt to Waikato Tainui from the
Department of Conservation in association with Pouhere Taonga - Heritage New Zealand.

Commemorations


Launch of the Northland pilot of Landmarks – Whenua Tohunga, in association with Pouhere
Taonga, Northland iwi and community stakeholders.



Waitangi Day commemorative events funded in Waitangi and nationally through the Ministry’s
Commemorating Waitangi Day fund. The criteria of the Commemorating Waitangi Day Fund
was extended to include days significant to the signing of the Treaty to a particular community
or rohe. In 2017 the Ministry funded events that took place on days other than Waitangi Day.
This included a Te Aitanga-a-Hauiti Centre of Excellence event that reflected on the signing of
the Treaty in Gisborne and Tolaga Bay during May 1840, and the signing of the Treaty at
Whakatāne on 16 June, which was the day Ngāti Awa signed the Treaty in 1840.



Pukeahu National War Memorial Park Anzac Day events in association with mana whenua
and the Wellington Tenths, and Port Nicholson trusts.



The start-up of First Encounters 250 with engagements with Tai Rāwhiti iwi - Ngāi Tāmanuhiri,
Te Aitanga a Māhaki, Rongowhakaata, Ngāti Porou, Ngāti Oneone, Te Aitanga a Hauiti;
Mercury Bay iwi - Ngāti Hei; Bay of Islands Iwi, hapū and marae around Waitangi - Ngāti
Kuta/Te Rawhiti Marae, Kororareka Marae, Ngati Rehia, Te Mātārahurahu, Ngāti Manu, and
Marlborough iwi - Ngāti Kuia, Ngāti Apa ki Te Rā Tō, Rangitāne o Wairau, Te Atiawa o te waka
a Māui.

Sector Performing Arts


Te Matatini 2017 in Ahuriri-Napier Hastings to support Te Matatini Inc.

Iwi Protocols


The Ministry signed the Parihaka Reconciliation Relationship accord at He Puanga Haeata on
9 June 2017. The accord is between Parihaka and Taranaki iwi and local and central
government, and agencies.



In 2016/17 the Ministry had 18 active relationships with post settlement iwi. As part of this work
the Ministry negotiated and agreed 15 relationship agreement protocols with individual iwi. In
total the Ministry now has more than 50 protocols with iwi throughout New Zealand.



In 2016/17 we negotiated protocols and accords with Ngāti Porou, Waikato Tainui, Maniapoto,
Ngāti Rangitihi, Ngāti Hauaa, Moriori, Ngāti Rangitihi, Ngāti Maru, Whakatohea, Te Akitai,
Ngaa Rauru and Ngāti Rangi.

Digital narratives


Producing digital and print publications which showcase Māori culture, history, and language,
including the history of Māori in World War I and the 28th Māori Battalion in World War II.



Documenting Treaty Settlement stories through oral history, print and digital recordings with
Ngāti Awa, Ngāi Tahu, Ngāti Whātua, Ngāi Tāmanuhiri, Raukawa (ki Tokoroa) and Ngati Maru
(ki Taranaki).

Connecting Iwi to Taonga


Working with iwi, e.g. Ngāi Tahu to identify and locate taonga tūturu that were notified to the
Ministry from their takiwā under the Protected Objects Act 1975.
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In 2016/17 we made substantial progress in completing an audit of taonga (totalling 2,235
separate Z-numbered taonga) to present to Ngāi Tahu.



Facilitating the formulation of a Memorandum of Understanding between Iwi in Te Tau Ihu: Ngāti
Tama, Ngāti Koata, Te Ātiawa o Te Waka-a-Māui, Ngāti Rarua, and Ngāti Kuia following the
Māori Land Court directive in 2014 to resolve a number of newly found taonga tūturu cases.
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Front-footing transformative technology
Te ārahi haere o ngā hangarau whakahou
What is the objective?
New Zealand creative practitioners and organisations have mastered skills and capabilities to frontfoot technological innovation. There is greater scope to select and manage production, distribution
and access. New Zealand is recognised as a leader in enabling ease of access to and re-use of
creative content.
Our aim is to provide access to high quality New Zealand content and the best of what the world has
to offer. To support this objective, the Ministry is working to create an environment in which skills,
infrastructure and intellectual property rights foster innovation and creation.

How we know if this is being achieved
Measure

How do we measure this?

Target (from Result
SOI)

Choices available to
consumers in provision of
cultural content

The baseline was set in
2015/16 as at least one
stream of work in this area.
The Ministry has completed
more than stream of work in
this area during 2016/17.

Increasing

Increasing

Hours of broadcast New
Zealand screen content

In 2014 12,537 hours were
broadcast. This increased to
12,836 in 2015 and 13,126 in
2016.

Increasing

Increasing

Measuring success
The following are examples of the work the Ministry and its funded agencies are undertaking to
enable ease of access to creative content and to increase the choices available to consumers.
Choices available to consumers in provision of cultural content
Radio New Zealand’s continued development
Following amendments to the Radio New Zealand Act in 2016 to support RNZ in placing its content
on a greater range of platforms, it has continued to expand its audience.
The combined cumulative weekly audience for RNZ National and Concert stood in April at 645,100,
an increase of 40,700 since the last survey in November. The use of its website (upgraded in 2016)
continued to grow rapidly – 7.5 million page views in April, an increase of 58 per cent from the year
before.
RNZ is due to receive an 8% funding increase for the 2017/18 year. The funding will contribute to
increasing RNZ’s audience reach and public service performance. Among other purposes, the
funding will be used to develop new forms of content, new apps and more personalised access to
RNZ’s website and equipment upgrades.
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Convergence
The Ministry is responding to changing technology by updating the current regulatory settings for
media, following the Government’s announcement in August 2016 that it would use the Digital
Convergence Bill to:


extend the Broadcasting Act 1989 to provide consistency in how on-line and broadcast content
is classified and subject to content standards



provide all television broadcasters with the right to include advertising on Sunday morning
broadcasts for events of major significance where advertising would support such events being
shown



clarify some of the rules for election programmes, to come into effect in time for the 2020
General Election (led by the Ministry of Justice as the responsible department).

The convergence work is also examining whether other improvements can be made to the
system. For example, whether classification labels can be standardised across mediums such as
broadcast and on-demand television, and films to reduce any confusion to consumers of content,
and to potentially reduce costs for broadcasters and other providers.
NZ On Air
NZ On Air regularly reviews its funding policies to ensure they are fit for purpose in the rapidly
changing media environment. In 2016/17 NZ On Air developed a new funding strategy and single
media fund. The NZ Media Fund will start from 1 July 2017 and endeavours to fund content which
reflects and develops New Zealand culture across platforms (such as online or television).
The NZ Media Fund has four funding streams: factual, scripted, music and platforms. The streams
will support NZ On Air to continue to fund quality, diverse and discoverable content for New
Zealanders across a range of platforms.
NZ On Air also launched Skip Ahead, a joint initiative with Google, which funded four web series.
The Skip Ahead initiative is intended to encourage YouTube creators with a significant following into
creating scripted narrative series. The funded projects were Ao-terror-oa, Happy Playland, How To
Dad, and Rekt.
New Zealand Film Commission
The New Zealand Film Commission (NZFC) has begun work to ensure its funding and strategy will
withstand changes in distribution and production technology. In 2016/17 it established a pilot
Interactive Development Fund. The fund supports concept development of original narrativefocussed interactive and games content delivered on any platform (including mobile, online, console
as well as virtual reality (including 360) and augmented reality). The fund will support development
of the key narrative concept, rather than technology development.
NZFC is also working to ensure that options to access New Zealand films respond to technology
development, and meet the needs of New Zealanders, here and overseas. In 2016/17 NZFC’s videoon-demand platform NZ Films On Demand grew to include more than 100 short and feature films.
Hours of broadcast New Zealand screen content
Broadcasting of New Zealand content continues to rise. NZ On Air’s 2016 report identified 13,126
hours of New Zealand screen content broadcast. This was a 2.2% increase from 2015. First run
programming increased by 266 hours (4%), accounting for 17% of the broadcast schedule.
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The chart below shows the change in broadcast New Zealand screen content over the past ten
years. It includes locally-produced content broadcast on the seven free-to-air television channels
between the hours of 6am and midnight.
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Improving cultural asset sustainability
Te whakanui ake o te toitū o ngā rawa rāngai
What is the objective?
There is greater clarity on the most valuable cultural assets and priorities for investing in cultural
infrastructure (tangible and intangible) over time within available resources. Sustainability is the
ability to ensure that cultural assets can be enhanced or maintained for the benefit of future
generations. In the cultural sector sustainability involves:


preserving cultural assets, including protecting assets against natural disasters such as
earthquakes



strengthening cultural agencies’ financial wellbeing and resilience to shocks.

This requires working with a wide range of agencies, including local government, to ensure
regulatory and financial levers are working together to create the best environment for preservation.
With static or declining public funding, the Ministry, cultural agencies, iwi and local government are
working together to plan and prioritise investment and to increase revenue from non-government
sources.

How we know if this is being achieved
Measure
Progress on establishing
national historic landmarks

How do we measure this?
Heritage New Zealand has
continued to develop the proposals
for National Historic Landmarks
Ngā Manawhenua o Aotearoa me
ōna Kōrero Tūturu. Work is
underway on at least two potential
sites to enable them to be
considered for National Historic
Landmark listing.

Target
(from SOI)
Increasing

Result
2016/17 is the
baseline year

Proportion of sector
funding obtained from
public sector

The baseline was set at 84.9%
based on data from our agencies’
2014/15 annual reports. The latest
data indicates that about 85% of
the sector’s funding is obtained
from the public sector.

Decreasing

Stayed the
same

Equity of New Zealand’s
largest cultural institutions

The baseline was set at $1.4 billion
based on data from our agencies’
2014/15 annual reports. The latest
available reports (2015/16) show
this remains at $1.4 bilion.

Increasing

Stayed the
same
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Measure

How do we measure this?

Household expenditure
(real) on cultural products
and services

The baseline was set in the
Statement of Intent as $107.20
based on the 2013 Household
Economic Survey from Statistics
New Zealand. The 2016 result was
$118.80.

Arts and recreation
business net births

Data from Business demography
statistics from Statistics New
Zealand. In 2015 the revised
baseline number is 189 net births.
In 2016 the number is a negative
21.

Target
(from SOI)
Increasing

Result

Increasing

Decreasing

Increasing

Measuring success
The following sets out some of the baseline evidence of cultural sector sustainability, and new
initiatives to improve sustainability (the Regional Culture and Heritage Fund and Heritage EQUIP).
Proportion of sector funding obtained from public sector
The sustainability of the cultural sector depends in part upon diversifying its funding sources.
Although government is and will continue to be a major funder of the cultural sector, cultural agencies
should also be looking at ways to generate income from the private sector, whether through the box
office, sponsorship or philanthropy. The following graph shows the proportion of public sector
revenue over the past 10 years for the agencies the Ministry funds in the arts, heritage, media and
sport sub-sectors. Despite considerable efforts by some agencies to increase private income
sources over the past decade, the portfolio as a whole is as reliant on public funding now as at the
start of the period (at around 85% of total operating revenue).
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Equity of New Zealand’s largest cultural institutions
Equity is defined here as being net assets (total assets minus total liabilities). The following table
sets out the equity in each cultural agency that the Ministry funds (taken from 2015/16 annual reports
as 2016/17 reports are not finalised yet).
Sector
Arts

Heritage

Media

Sport
Total Sector

Funded agency
Creative NZ
NZ Music Commission
NZ Symphony Orchestra
Royal NZ Ballet
Te Matatini
Antarctic Heritage Trust
Heritage NZ
Te Papa
Broadcasting Standards Authority
Ngā Taonga Sound & Vision
NZ Film Commission
NZ On Air
Drug Free Sport NZ
Sport NZ

Equity $000
11,768
379
2,119
1,475
804
9,641
63,361
1,279,070
1,918
5,115
8,540
1,916
693
36,020
1,422,819

Heritage property transfers
During the financial year responsibility for two prominent heritage buildings in Wellington, Old
Government Buildings and Turnbull House, transferred from the Department of Conservation (DOC)
to Heritage New Zealand.
On 1 July 2017 DOC received from Heritage New Zealand the Whangamarino Redoubt at Mercer,
Clifden Suspension Bridge in Southland, Gabriel Read Memorial in Otago, Springvale Suspension
Bridge in Manawatu and full control of the Brunner Industrial Site on the West Coast.
The transfer of responsibility for these historically significant sites was the outcome of a heritage
property realignment initiated by the Ministry during 2015. This is expected to result in their more
efficient management.

Funding cultural asset sustainability
The Ministry progressed two new funding initiatives to improve cultural asset sustainability: Heritage
EQUIP and the Regional Culture and Heritage Fund.
Heritage EQUIP
The Minister for Arts, Culture and Heritage announced Heritage EQUIP in August 2016. Heritage
EQUIP provides financial support and advice to owners of earthquake-prone heritage buildings to
help them seismically strengthen their buildings. The programme is part of the government’s wider
response to earthquake prone buildings through changes to the Building Act. Heritage EQUIP
reflects that heritage building owners have less flexibility in meeting their new obligations under the
Building Act.
Heritage EQUIP will provide $10.2 million over four years to assist private owners of nationally
significant heritage buildings that are earthquake-prone. Eligibility for funding includes privately
owned earthquake-prone buildings that are listed on the New Zealand Heritage List/Rārangi Kōrero
as either Category 1 or Category 2 (in an area of medium or high seismic risk). Buildings scheduled
on a district plan can also be considered.
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An expert advisory panel has been established to provide advice to the Ministry’s Chief Executive
on funding applications.
Half-way through the financial year the Ministry ran the first funding round; a second round was
conducted shortly before year-end. In total, the expert advisory panel recommended seven grants
for funding, with a total of almost $500,000 in funding being granted.
The Ministry has developed a standalone Heritage EQUIP website to provide seismic upgrade
information to the wider building owner community, regardless of funding eligibility. The website was
delivered in the first quarter of 2017/18.
The Regional Culture and Heritage Fund
In May 2016 the Government replaced the Regional Museums Policy for Capital Construction
Projects (RMP) with the Regional Culture and Heritage Fund. The former RMP provided funding to
museums with collections of national significance only. The new Regional Culture and Heritage Fund
benefits a wider range of cultural organisations throughout New Zealand to undertake capital
construction projects. As well as museums and art galleries, this includes performing arts centres,
heritage complexes and iwi museums/whare taonga. The Regional Culture and Heritage Fund was
introduced to ensure regions are supported to showcase their heritage, to offer new cultural
experiences and to drive economic development. The fund is $30.347 million over four years.
Funding is allocated on a contestable basis.
Grants approved during the year include:
Hundertwasser Art Centre, Whangarei received a $3 million grant
(13%) towards it’s $22.977 million project.

Whakatāne Museum and Research Centre received $1.5 million (32%)
towards a $4.7 million project to upgrade and expand this facility.

The Sarjeant Gallery received a time-limited conditional offer of $10
million (29%) towards it’s almost $35 million redevelopment.

Nelson School of Music Performance Auditorium received $1.5 million
(19%) towards its $7.7 million seismic redevelopment project.

Eastern Southland Gallery’s Art Centre in Gore received $0.110 million
(31%) towards it’s $0.349 million Stage 3 Muka Wing.

For more information please visit http://www.mch.govt.nz/RegionalCultureHeritageFund.
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Measuring and maximising public value
Te aromātai me te whakanui ake o te uara tūmatanui
What is the objective?
Decision-making and choices in resourcing cultural infrastructure and cultural activity are better
informed by data, evidence and understanding of the public value of culture.
The cultural agencies are working together to better understand and increase the public value of
cultural goods and services, including their wider economic and social benefits.
Cultural activities contribute to a wide range of outcomes that can improve wellbeing. Sometimes
these are direct effects that increase people’s wellbeing through participation or experience with
cultural activities. Often cultural activities contribute to a wider range of social and economic
outcomes such as regional development and economic spillovers from the creative sector.
Increasingly Government is using an investment lens to identify and measure the longer term
impacts on peoples’ wellbeing to justify and prioritise public funding.

How we know if this is being achieved
Measure

How do we measure this?

Target (from Result
SOI)

Use of evidence about
public value in decisions
about funded cultural
investments

The baseline was set in
2015/16 as at least one
example of work in this area.

Increasing

Increasing

Public subsidy per unit of
cultural consumption

Cultural consumption data is
not available and we expect
this measure to be
discontinued.

Decreasing

No result
available

Measuring success
The following summarises the work that is underway including case studies.
The Cultural Sector Narrative: the value and impact of culture
Working with the 15 directly funded cultural agencies, the Ministry is developing a Cultural Sector
Narrative. This is the ‘story’, ‘strategy’ and ‘data and evidence’ that describe and communicate the
sector’s combined value, impact and benefits - in short, it is the sector’s value proposition.
The Cultural Sector Narrative will address a shared perception across cultural agencies that we must
better understand, measure and communicate how collectively we contribute to New Zealanders’
quality of life, connectedness, and economic success. It will provide a credible and compelling
narrative about how and why cultural activities matter for New Zealanders.
We will engage with the wider sector and other parties on the content of the Cultural Sector Narrative
as it is developed.
The Cultural Sector Narrative will draw together the cultural sector data and research that already
exists and identify and address significant gaps, supporting the provision of quality policy advice built
on a strong evidence base and value proposition.
During the 2016/17 year an independent facilitator, contracted by the Ministry, met individually with
Ministry for Culture and Heritage Annual Report 2016-17/

29

the Chief Executives of each of the funded cultural agencies to discuss their goals for this project
and their vision for the cultural sector. The Ministry then organised two facilitated workshops,
designed to provide a deep dive into some of the critical issues identified in the one-on-one
conversations with Chief Executives: social and digital disruption, and the social and economic value
the cultural sector produces for New Zealanders.
In preparation for these deep dive workshops, we prepared preliminary drafts of a values framework
and other resources.
We expect in 2017/18 to agree a shared vision for the sector, a stronger collective sense of the
sector’s story and value proposition, and a shared value framework to measure the value the sector
is creating.
These products will be tailored to communicate to a range of audiences – philanthropists and
sponsors, local body politicians and decision-makers, supporters and the public.
We envisage that all cultural sector agencies will be able to use the resources to communicate their
value and impact to funders and decision-makers, supporters and the public.
Ultimately it is anticipated that the Cultural Sector Narrative will result in a shared strategy for the
sector; comprising a policy framework to set priorities for action and short, medium and long-term
sector priorities.
As part of this initiative, the Ministry has begun a review of the 1995 Cultural Statistics Framework
working in collaboration with Statistics New Zealand. This is a foundation document that sets the
statistical framework for collecting and analysing data across the cultural sector. Once refreshed,
we will have a credible basis for collecting data and analysing the sector’s impact.
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Performance information for appropriations
Kaupapa Korero mo nga Taonga tuku iho
This section details what has been achieved with each of the Ministry’s appropriations for the
financial year. The sector faced the challenge of continuing to deliver with static resourcing. For the
Ministry, one way of helping organisations to meet this challenge was to focus on efficiency, value
for money and the potential for better collaboration.
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Vote Arts, Culture and Heritage
Policy Advice, Monitoring of Funded Agencies and Ministerial Servicing
The overarching purpose of this multi-category appropriation is to provide policy advice and other
support to Ministers in discharging their policy decision-making and other portfolio responsibilities.

Scope of individual categories
Policy advice
The provision of advice to support decision-making by Ministers on government policy matters
relating to arts, culture, heritage and broadcasting.
Monitoring of funded agencies
Monitoring the Crown’s interests in sector agencies.
Ministerial servicing
Providing negotiated services to the Minister for Arts, Culture and Heritage and the Minister of
Broadcasting.

What we delivered
This output contributes to the following sector priorities (described in more detail on page 13):


Fostering inclusive New Zealand identity



Supporting Māori cultural aspirations



Front-footing transformative technology



Improving cultural asset sustainability



Measuring and maximising public value.

During 2016/17, we:
Funding policies


Established the Heritage EQUIP expert advisory panel, along with operational policies and
other fund management infrastructure.



Established the Heritage EQUIP investment plan for 2017/18, which builds on market
engagement conducted through 2016/17. A significant feature is a focus on engaging territorial
authorities, and the partnership with Heritage New Zealand.



Implemented a new Regional Culture and Heritage Fund to replace the existing Regional
Museums Fund, benefitting capital construction projects in a wide range of cultural
organisations throughout New Zealand.



Revised the criteria for the New Zealand Screen Production Grant for New Zealand
productions to respond to changes in the screen sector environment.

Policy initiatives


Ran a Northland pilot of a national Landmarks programme that identifies New Zealand’s most
significant places and, through these places, tell New Zealand’s most important stories.
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Established an agreed policy framework for the First Encounters 250 commemorations in
2019, including the formation of a National Coordinating Committee.



Supported the recovery from the Canterbury earthquakes by contributing to a range of cultural
initiatives in greater Christchurch.



Concluded one co-production agreement (with Canada).



Led work on media sector convergence, which will update the current regulatory settings to
ensure they are clear, fit for purpose and consistent across platforms where appropriate.



Provided advice to Ministers on the feasibility of introducing a companion card in New Zealand
to reduce the cost barrier for people with a permanent disability who require a companion to
attend paid-entry activities.



Contributed to MBIE’s March 2017 report on copyright and the creative sector.



Took an active part in the Inter Agency Major Events group, including roles as
o

lead agency with the World Cups Office for the Rugby 2017 Festival:DHL Lions Series

o

lead agency for the Mudtopia Festival in Rotorua

o

lead Agency for Waka Awaken



Co-hosted workshops in Wellington and Auckland to explore potential solutions to the issues
around the recording, managing and protecting public art in New Zealand.



Prepared work on a bill to address regulatory settings in the Broadcasting Act 1989 to ensure
consistency of standards across platforms, advertising times and election programmes.



Transferred the licence for Radio Active FM Wellington to enable it to continue to broadcast,
and facilitated Wellington Access Radio’s transition to 106.1FM from 783AM.

Legislation


Supported the development of Orders in Council responding to the Hurunui/ Kaikōura
earthquakes in 2016.

Policy advice


Provided advice on policy, legislation and funding to enhance:
o

o

o
o

the development of cultural sector services and activities, including visual, performing
and literary arts, historic heritage, museum collections, taonga and whare taonga,
cultural tourism, broadcasting and media sector issues
the development of Māori culture and heritage, including approaches to whare taonga
initiatives
sector coherence and infrastructure
the contribution of the cultural sector to the Government’s wider social and economic
goals.

Crown-funded cultural agencies


Improved funded agencies’ strategic planning and performance reporting frameworks through
collaboration and support.



Advised on mechanisms for sustaining the performance and financial strength of key cultural
sector agencies, through agency cooperation and assisting the cultural sector to diversify
revenues.
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Advised on the appointment of board members for Crown-connected agencies.



Advised on and administered legislation for the cultural Crown entities.

How well we delivered it
This section provides an assessment of our delivery against the performance measures set out in
the Information Supporting the Estimates for 2016/17.
Policy Advice, Monitoring of Funded Agencies and Ministerial Services
Performance measures
Ministerial satisfaction with the quality and
timeliness of policy advice, monitoring of
funded agencies and ministerial services

Actual
performance
2016

Budget
standard
2017

Actual
performance
2017

75%

80%

80%

Actual
performance
2016

Budget
standard
2017

Actual
performance
2017

234

400

372

78%

75%

72%

81%

80%

95%

$87.05

$100.00

$96.81

Policy advice
Performance measures
Number of briefings, reports and other
updates provided to Vote Ministers
The quality of written policy papers to the
Vote Ministers, as assessed by an external
independent reviewer on an annual basis
Ministerial satisfaction with the quality and
timeliness of advice
Cost per output hour

The quality of written policy papers to the Vote Ministers
The Ministry has moved away from using NZIER to review its papers and is now using a panel of
three principal advisors from the Ministry and one senior analyst from the Ministry of Transport to
review the quality of the papers. This is part of a Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet led
initiative to improve the quality of policy advice across government.
Monitoring of funded agencies
Performance measures
Number of briefings, reports and other
updates provided to Vote Ministers
Ministerial satisfaction with the quality and
timeliness of performance advice

Actual
performance
2016

Budget
standard
2017

Actual
performance
2017

123

100

84

84%

80%

75%
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Ministerial servicing
Actual
performance
2016

Budget
standard
2017

Actual
performance
2017

581

850 - 900

360

No workshops
took place
during the
year

90%

88%

13

23

58

Ministerial satisfaction with the quality and
timeliness of correspondence

60%

80%

95%

All timeframes for Ministerial correspondence
replies, Parliamentary question responses,
and Ministerial Official Information Act
requests are met

98%

95%

95%

Performance measures
Number of draft ministerial correspondence,
replies to the house, and sets of speech
notes provided to the Vote Ministers
The average quality of new board member
governance workshops, as assessed by
survey of attendees
Number of appointments to Crown-connected
Boards

Number of briefings, reports and other updates
The number of briefings, reports and other updates provided to Vote Ministers is demand driven.
Targets are estimates only.
The average quality of new board member governance workshops, as assessed by survey of
attendees
Only a small number of workshops were held during the year with a small number of attendees. Only
four people responded to the survey. During 2017/18 we will be holding a lot more workshops and
expect to be able to achieve a better response rate to the survey.
Number of draft ministerial correspondence, replies to the house, and sets of speech notes
provided to the Vote Ministers
This measure is demand driven. Targets are estimates only.

Financial performance
Policy Advice

Revenue Crown
Revenue other
Total revenue
Total expenses
Surplus/(deficit)

Actual
2016
$000
3,050
35
3,085
3,010
75

Budget*
2017
$000
3,333
158
3,491
3,491
-

Actual
2017
$000
3,334
123
3,457
3,410
47
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Monitoring of Funded Agencies

Revenue Crown
Revenue other
Total revenue
Total expenses
Surplus/(deficit)

Actual
2016
$000
1,808
21
1,829
1,784

Budget*
2017
$000
1,975
92
2,067
2,067

Actual
2017
$000
1,975
73
2,048
2,021

45

-

27

Actual
2016
$000
790
9
799
781
18

Budget*
2017
$000
864
40
904
904
-

Actual
2017
$000
864
32
896
884
12

Ministerial Servicing

Revenue Crown
Revenue other
Total revenue
Total expenses
Surplus/(deficit)
*

The statement of accounting policies provides explanations of these figures which are not subject to
audit.
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Vote Arts, Culture and Heritage
Heritage Services
Scope
Management of new memorial projects, national monuments, war and historic graves; promotion of
cultural events; administration of legislation and grants; and research, writing and publication of New
Zealand history and reference works including the on-line Encyclopedia of New Zealand.

What we delivered
This output contributes to the following sector priorities (described in more detail on page 13):


Fostering inclusive New Zealand identity



Supporting Māori cultural aspirations



Front-footing transformative technology



Measuring and maximising public value.

During 2016/17 we:
WW100


Continued to connect New Zealanders around the country with New Zealand’s World War One
stories and heritage through the delivery, with our key partners, of New Zealand’s First World
War centenary commemorations projects. Key events in 2016/17 included the national
commemorations of the centenary of New Zealand’s involvement in the war in France and the
Battle of Messines. Both commemorations were live streamed and supported by briefing kits
for media, and direct mail packages to museums and libraries. Ceremonies marking these
centenaries were also held in France and Belgium.



Broadened the reach of WW100 to younger audiences through initiatives such as animated
video series and an Instagram channel. These initiatives have seen an increase in WW100’s
social media following by people in the 13 to 35 year age group.

Pukeahu National War Memorial Park development and Education Programme


Continued the development of Pukeahu National War Memorial Park as a community space
and iconic national site for New Zealanders to explore their history, heritage and culture. There
were 53,000 visitors to the National War Memorial in 2016/17. Approximately 15,000 attended
Anzac Day in 2017, an increase of 3,000 over the previous year.



Pukehau has also become an increasingly important part of the programme for guests of
government and visiting senior defence force personnel. For example, in November 2016
ceremonies were held for the King and Queen of the Netherlands, the US Secretary of State,
the French Secretary of State for Veterans and Military Heritage, and the King of Jordan; as
well as four military commemorations.



Continued to work with the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade and embassies to develop
international memorials to be installed in Pukeahu. The Turkish memorial was completed in
March 2017 and final designs were agreed for the UK, Belgian and French memorials, all of
which will be completed in the 2017/18 year.



Continued to develop the Pukeahu Education Programme with over 4,246 students
participating in the programme during the 2016/17 school year. Attendance numbers were
adversely affected by the Kaikoura earthquake in November 2016, with many schools
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cancelling their bookings.


In August 2016 the Queen Elizabeth II Pukeahu Education Centre was opened as New
Zealand’s gift to mark Her Majesty’s 90th birthday. The centre provides a base for the
education programme at Pukeahu and the Great War Exhibition.

Telling our stories


Provided a wide range of high-quality historical and cultural information that engages New
Zealanders and international audiences in New Zealand’s stories using a range of media,
including print and digital. These included delivering First World War centenary
commemorative digital and print projects, notably Ian McGibbon’s landmark history of New
Zealand’s Western Front Campaign; and maintaining and developing a wide range of websites,
including Te Ara – The Encyclopedia of New Zealand (which in 2016/17 underwent a major
redevelopment as a responsive site better suited for use on mobile devices); NZHistory; and
websites dedicated to the 28th Māori Battalion and the Vietnam War. Multi-lingual copies of A
Guide to Anzac Day were made available online and distributed to libraries and community
groups.



Produced digital and print publications that showcase and celebrate Māori culture, history, and
language including and print projects on the 28th Maori Battalion’s B Company, which has
largely been completed, and D Company, which has just got under way. Work continues on
Te Taiwhakaea Treaty Settlement Stories, a major new project about Treaty settlement, for
which we have created an audio-visual trailer to engage ministerial and stakeholder support.



Developed a new digital strategy to advance how we position our websites to support Ministry
and government initiatives. This follows audience research and engagement with the library
community that shows our products are trusted, credible and relied on by a wide range of
users. The research shows that to keep pace in an increasingly crowded online marketplace,
we need to diversify the subjects, viewpoints and formats we publish. Our strategy
recommends more effective use of existing content to support new Ministry initiatives,
particularly in the commemorations programme, and includes an expectation that new
initiatives will contribute to maintaining and developing existing content. Our foundations
through products like Te Ara and NZHistory are solid but there is significant opportunity to grow
our publishing through investment in content development, audio-visual material, and IT
capability through projects such as Te Taiwhakaea.



Supported stories of, and community engagement with New Zealand’s history and heritage
through the annual New Zealand Oral History Awards, Awards in History and the Waitangi Day
Fund.



Worked with our partner agencies to support major historical projects, including the He Tohu
exhibition at the National Library.

Indemnity for international touring exhibitions


Facilitated access for New Zealander’s to artworks of international significance through
administration of the Government indemnity scheme for touring exhibitions. In 2016/17 the
Government granted indemnity for ‘The Body Laid Bare: Masterpieces from the Tate’ exhibition
at Auckland Art Gallery which featured more than 100 artworks from Tate, London.

Commemorations


Led the development of a programme of commemorative events to support New Zealanders
in exploring the stories and lasting impact of significant events in our history. These include
First Encounters 250, the 2019 Tier 1 (major) commemoration of the 250th anniversary of the
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first meetings of Māori and Europeans when James Cook and Tahitian chief Tupaia and
European scientists circumnavigated New Zealand in 1769 and the 125th anniversary of
Women’s Suffrage in 2018.
First Encounters 250


Worked with government agencies, iwi, local authorities, metropolitan centres and trusts
established in four of the Endeavour’s original landing sites to support the development and
coordination of national and regional events and legacy projects for the commemoration.



Appointed a Chair of the National Coordinating Committee, worked with Māori language
experts to develop a Māori name for the commemoration and secured funding of $3.5 million
from MBIE’s Major Events Development Fund and $5 million through Budget 2017.



Continued to develop the Cabinet-mandated national launch and the centrepiece three-month
voyaging event for 2019 (to include a replica of the Endeavour, waka hourua - double-hulled
voyaging canoes - and naval vessels).



Commenced work with the Ministry of Education on a national education strategy for the
commemoration.

Suffrage 125


Worked with the Ministry for Women to establish an interdepartmental Advisory Group and
coordinate a programme of activities and events to celebrate the 125th anniversary of
Women’s Suffrage in 2018.

Heritage protection


Ensured the care and maintenance of war graves and historic monuments in New Zealand and
abroad including the maintenance and care for over 3,600 war graves and memorials in New
Zealand over the past two years and management of a continuing programme of planned
maintenance of overseas memorials and war graves.



Protected New Zealanders’ access to their movable heritage through the administration of the
Protected Objects Act 1975, which regulates the export of protected objects and the notification
and care of newly found taonga tūturu. Workshops were held with registered Expert Examiners
to improve the consultative processes required under the Act.



Protected the use of names, titles and symbols of significance to New Zealanders through the
administration of the Flags, Emblems and Names Protection Act. Advice was given on the
protocols for flying the New Zealand Flag, particularly in times of mourning and days of national
significance, including Waitangi Day and Anzac Day.

How well we delivered it
This section provides an assessment of our delivery against the performance measures set out in the
Information Supporting the Estimates for 2016/17.
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Administration of legislation to protect New Zealand and taonga Māori and cultural heritage
Actual
performance
2016

Budget
standard
2017

Actual
performance
2017

Export enquiries and applications under the
Protected Objects Act are processed within
three months of receipt by the Ministry

100%

100%

97%

Taonga tūturu cases where no claims for
ownership are submitted have long-term
custody arrangements approved by the Chief
Executive of the Ministry within six months of
public notification

100%

100%

100%

Applications in relation to the Flags, Emblems
and Names Protection Act 1981 submitted to
the minister within three months of receipt

100%

100%

50%

Ministerial acceptance of advice in relation to
the Flags, Emblems and Names Protection
Act 1981

100%

100%

100%

Performance measures

Export enquiries and applications under the Protected Objects Act
One permanent export application was not processed within the target timeframe. The content of the
application was not sufficient for the expert examiners, and further information was required from the
applicant.
Applications in relation to the Flags, Emblems and Names Protection Act 1981
We had two applications during the year. One was submitted within three months of receipt. The other
one exceeded the target timeframe as it required consultation with the UK Intellectual Property Office
and DPMC.
Maintain war graves and access to memorials and other places of national significance
Performance measures
Manage biennial programme of inspections
and planned repairs for war graves and
memorials included in the Ministry's portfolio
within New Zealand
Improve interpretation at memorials in New
Zealand and complete planned maintenance
and site development at key offshore
memorials
After visiting the National War Memorial,
visitors reporting increased awareness of the
historical context and enduring impact of war
on New Zealand, as well as a better
understanding of commemoration and the
place of ceremony and ritual in our society

Actual
performance
2016

Budget
standard
2017

Actual
performance
2017

95% Delivered
against plan

Delivered
against plan

98% Delivered
against plan

Delivered
against plan

Delivered
against plan

Delivered
against plan

New Measure

90%

83%
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Performance measures

Actual
performance
2016

Budget
standard
2017

Actual
performance
2017

School groups reporting increased levels of
understanding and awareness of New
Zealand's history, heritage, nationhood or
citizenship after having gone through the
Pukeahu Education Programme

New Measure

90%

67%

War graves and memorials
In this year 274 out of 279 sites, encompassing 1,804 war graves and 105 monuments/memorials and
historic sites in New Zealand have been inspected. The remaining sites were not inspected owing to
circumstances beyond the Ministry’s control, such as bad weather and/or poor access to grave sites.
Increased levels of awareness of the historical context and enduring impact of war on New
Zealand after visiting the National War Memorial
76 people responded to the survey. 63 responded that their visit had increased awareness of the
historical context and enduring impact of war on New Zealand, as well as a better understanding of
commemoration and the place of ceremony and ritual in our society. The survey was not activated until
the second quarter of the year.
Promotion of cultural events and significant commemorations
Actual
performance
2016

Budget
standard
2017

Actual
performance
2017

Ministerial satisfaction with the co-ordination
of anniversaries and the commemorations
programme

Rated ‘Very
good’

Rated ‘good’ or
better

Rated ‘Very
good’

Ministerial satisfaction with co-ordination of
the WW100 programme

Rated ‘Very
good’

Rated ‘good’ or
better

Rated ‘Very
good’

329,877

Average
monthly reach
of 100,000

Average
monthly reach
of 248,672

Performance measures

Social media reach across WW100
programme

Information on and communication of New Zealand and Māori history, society and culture
Performance measures
Manage annual programme to collect,
preserve, and provide information on New
Zealand and Māori history, society and culture
Annual number of total visits to the Ministry’s
websites
Annual number of page impressions for
Ministry’s websites
Annual number of returning visitors to the
Ministry’s websites

Actual
performance
2016

Budget
standard
2017

Actual
performance
2017

Delivered
against plan

Delivered
against plan

Delivered
against plan

10.8 million

11 million

10.3 million

32 million

32.5 million

27.6 million

3.8 million

3.75 million

3.6 million
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Financial performance

Revenue Crown
Revenue other
Total revenue
Total expenses
Surplus/(deficit)
*

Actual
2016
$000
8,398
702
9,100
9,034

Budget*
2017
$000
8,129
626
8,755
8,755

Actual
2017
$000
8,129
644
8,773
8,349

66

-

424

The statement of accounting policies provides explanations of these figures which are not subject to
audit.
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Vote Arts, Culture and Heritage
Cultural Diplomacy International Programme
Scope
Management and delivery of an international cultural diplomacy programme through a series of
projects and activities primarily focused on Asia and other regions where New Zealand is pursuing free
trade agreements.

What we delivered
This output contributes to the following sector priorities (described in more detail on page 13):


Fostering inclusive New Zealand identity



Supporting Māori cultural aspirations



Improving cultural asset sustainability



Measuring and maximising public value.

During 2016/17 we:


Provided high-quality advice to the Minister for Arts, Culture and Heritage on the Cultural
Diplomacy International Programme.



Completed two projects: The Venice Biennale and The Indian Ink tour of the play Krishnan’s
Dairy, India.



Commenced the New Zealand Film Festival in Latin America in May 2017. The Film Festival
is currently touring seven Latin American countries (Argentina, Paraguay, Mexico, Chile, Cuba,
Brazil and Colombia) with screenings of nine New Zealand feature films and eight shorts. The
Film Festival will close in September 2017.

How well we delivered it
This section provides an assessment of our delivery against the performance measures set out in the
Information Supporting the Estimates for 2016/17.
Performance measures
Extent to which desired outcomes for projects
completed in this period have been achieved
Number of approved projects completed
Ministerial satisfaction with the quality and
timeliness of advice is consistently high

Actual
performance
2016

Budget
standard
2017

Actual
performance
2017

100%

80%

73%

6

3

2

81%

80%

70%

Extent to which desired outcomes for projects completed in this period have been achieved
The Venice Architecture Biennale project met around 50% of its desired outcomes. This is partly
because of a lack of data captured around outcomes by agencies on the ground during the event.
While a greater percentage of desired outcomes may have been achieved, we are unable to verify
this.
The Indian Ink project was very successful, meeting around 95% of its desired outcomes.
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Number of approved projects completed
There was a delay in the start of the Latin American Film Festival. Originally screening from April –
July 2017, the Film Festival is now screening from May – September 2017.
Ministerial satisfaction
The Minister has raised concerns about the timeliness of advice provided. A review of CDIP processes
is currently underway, and will ensure that this issue is addressed going forward.

Financial performance

Revenue Crown
Revenue other
Total revenue
Total expenses
Surplus/(deficit)
*

Actual
2016
$000
1,669
1,669
892

Budget*
2017
$000
1,302
1,302
1,302

Actual
2017
$000
856
856
856

777

-

-

The statement of accounting policies provides explanations of these figures which are not subject to
audit.
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Vote Arts, Culture and Heritage
First World War Centenary
Scope
Departmental Output Expenses
Provision of activities relating to First World War centenary commemorations.

What we delivered
This output contributes to the following sector priorities (described in more detail on page 13):


Fostering inclusive New Zealand identity



Measuring and maximising public value.

During 2016/17 we progressed New Zealand’s First World War centenary legacy projects, including:
Ngā Tapuwae


Continued promotion of Ngā Tapuwae New Zealand First World War Trails website and apps.
Feedback from users has been very positive, both from users overseas and the education
sector in New Zealand.



Released new Ngā Tapuwae branded merchandise including a limited edition pin created by
award-winning jewellers, The Village Goldsmith. The merchandise is available through Te
Papa’s store and online with royalties used to maintain Ngā Tapuwae trails.

Walking with an Anzac


Continuing to support the ‘Walking with an Anzac’ schools resource with 800 school visits and
5,900 downloads of the factsheets by teachers.

Great War Exhibition


Continuing to support the Great War Exhibition as a shared project with Wellington City
Council, operated by the National Military Heritage Charitable Trust. Over 80,000 visitors
experienced the exhibition in 2016/17.

How well we delivered it
This section provides an assessment of our delivery against the performance measures set out in the
Information Supporting the Estimates for 2016/17.
First World War Centenary Operating Expenses
Performance measures
Visitor satisfaction with the Great War
Exhibition

Actual
performance
2016

Budget
standard
2017

Actual
performance
2017

97% of visitors
surveyed rated
the experience
'good' or better

Rated 'good' or
better

Rated 'good'
or better

Ministry for Culture and Heritage Annual Report 2016-17/

45

Performance measures
Visitors reporting increased levels of
understanding and awareness of New
Zealand's military history after visiting the
Great War Exhibition
Annual visits to the Great War Exhibition

Actual
performance
2016

Budget
standard
2017

Actual
performance
2017

94%

90%

98%

179,363

200,000

81,466

Annual visits to the Great War Exhibition
The Great War Exhibition opened in April 2015 and is operated by the National Military Heritage
Charitable Trust.
The original estimate of 200,000 visits (published in the 2016/17 Estimates) was established prior to
the introduction of an entry charge. The target agreed by the Trust is 125,000 to more accurately reflect
actual visitor numbers. Unfortunately this has not been achieved.
However, The Great War Exhibition is rated the second best experience in Wellington on TripAdvisor
(after Te Papa) and is the third best experience in New Zealand. It is rated “very good” or “excellent”
by 98% of reviewers on TripAdvisor.

Financial performance
Departmental Output Expenses

Revenue Crown
Revenue other
Total revenue
Total expenses
Surplus/(deficit)
*

Actual
2016
$000
2,819
556
3,375
3,085

Budget*
2017
$000
1,256
540
1,796
1,796

Actual
2017
$000
1,756
513
2,269
10,380

290

-

(8,111)

The statement of accounting policies provides explanations of these figures which are not subject to
audit.
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Vote Sport and Recreation
Purchase Advice and Monitoring of Sport and Recreation Crown Entities
Scope
Provision of purchase advice and monitoring of Sport New Zealand and Drug Free Sport New Zealand,
including advice in relation to appointments to boards.

What we delivered
This output contributes to the following sector priorities (described in more detail on page 13):


Fostering inclusive New Zealand identity



Supporting Māori cultural aspirations



Front-footing transformative technology



Improving cultural asset sustainability



Measuring and maximising public value.

During 2016/17, we:


Provided advice and support for board appointments to Sport New Zealand, Drug Free Sport
New Zealand, the Sports Tribunal of New Zealand and the Eden Park Trust Board.



Developed and supported through the House the amendments in the Statutes Repeal Act 2017
(No 23) that repealed provisions for a Nominations Advisory Group in the Sport and Recreation
Act 2002.



Provided advice on the performance of Sport New Zealand and Drug Free Sport New Zealand.



Advised and assisted portfolio Crown-funded agencies.



Improved assessment of the performance of Crown-funded agencies.

How well we delivered it
This section provides an assessment of our delivery against the performance measures set out in the
Information Supporting the Estimates for 2016/17.
Purchase advice and monitoring of sport and recreation Crown entities
Performance measures
Briefing reports to be provided during the
year
Ministerial satisfaction with the quality and
timeliness of advice is consistently high

Actual
performance
2016

Budget
standard
2017

Actual
performance
2017

35

20

45

New Measure

80%

80%
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Financial performance

Revenue Crown
Revenue other
Total revenue
Total expenses
Surplus/(deficit)
*

Actual
2016
$000
363
-

Budget*
2017
$000
319
-

Actual
2017
$000
319
-

363
328

319
319

319
317

35

-

2

The statement of accounting policies provides explanations of these figures which are not subject to
audit.
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Effective and efficient delivery of our services
Te whakahaere tika i ā mātou ratonga
This section reports on how the Ministry continuously improved its service delivery and provided value
for money. The efficient and effective delivery of the Ministry’s services contributes to the
Government’s policy objective of lifting the performance of the public sector.

Managing in a changeable operating environment
The Ministry’s ability to identify and manage risks affects our ability to achieve our goals. We mitigate
risks effectively through having strong governance structures for all our activities and through having
an effective risk management policy, including business continuity plans.
To meet the challenges across our business we are undertaking an organisational improvement
programme. This is detailed on page 8.
We have strengthened the management of our work programme, with a new governance group that
meets monthly to monitor progress on all key activities. This provides a mechanism to more effectively
prioritise organisational effort to where we can have the greatest impact.
We regularly assess our organisational performance, our financial position and our compliance with
statutory and internal policy requirements, and refine our management strategies in response.
We know that the sector needs a strong evidential base to support our future strategy and operating
model and we are engaged in a programme of work to measure the value and impact of culture.

The Ministry delivers support services efficiently
The Ministry is required to meet efficiency savings targets across the Ministry’s departmental
appropriations. The 2016 Benchmarking Administrative and Support Services (BASS) benchmarked
results confirm that the Ministry’s support functions are efficient and also effective for an organisation
of this size.
The Ministry continues to work with agencies to identify opportunities for future efficiency savings,
using tools such as BASS. We investigated the possibility of shared IT services with other agencies in
the sector and identified the need to collaborate closer with our sector partners on any new IT
initiatives.

Our People
The Ministry has a capable, committed workforce. We are characterised by a “can do”, agile and
collaborative culture, achieving great results, with a particular strength in joint-delivery with other key
agencies.
We are progressing well with building the foundations of a purposeful, high performance culture and
now have a Common Purpose statement which all staff have had input to and resonates internally and
externally. We have produced a simplified version of our strategy which all staff can connect to and
are beginning to articulate our culture and behaviours through a leader led learning approach. We now
are moving to ‘Phase 2’: embedding purpose and behaviours into key operating systems and structure.
Underpinning this approach is developing the leadership capability of our leaders and emerging
leaders to help drive and embed. The SSC Leadership Success Framework also underpins this work
and in progress of being successfully embedded.
We have incorporated the SSC approach to Talent Management for all staff. We are building on this
work to produce talent analytics which is better informing our decisions around cross-Ministry
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development needs and the priority focus of our scarce learning and development resource. In 2017/18
emphasis is placed on leadership (see above), developing a learning culture, building project
management capability (developed through our work programme and work programme governance)
and better monitoring practice. Our performance management approach: Coaching for Success and
Talent Management will soon be refreshed to better incorporate culture and behaviours.
We are currently refreshing our workforce strategy and remuneration strategy to best support our
strategic direction, culture and operating model.

Diversity and Inclusion
Connection to Strategy
Our Vision is to ‘connect more people with New Zealand’s culture’; including and proactively
responding to an increasingly diverse population is central to how we go about this.
Our new Simplified Strategy has diversity and inclusion embedded in the ‘What Matters to Us’ section;
for example inclusive language such as ‘valuing diversity’, ‘all New Zealanders’ and ‘people’ help to
articulate how Diversity and Inclusion is essential to achieving our goals.
Helping all staff to understand our simplified strategy is currently underway along with discussing our
[Internal] Culture, Values and Behaviours. Referencing the value that diversity and inclusion brings to
the culture of New Zealand and making the connection to our internal approach to diversity and
inclusion is integral to these conversations.
Diversity and Inclusion Goals
In 2016/17 we focused on continuing to measure and monitor gender pay, ethnicity numbers and
tactical Diversity and Inclusion (D&I) initiatives with a view that a comprehensive D&I strategy, inclusive
of goals and metrics would be developed in 2017/18, after the delivery of our simplified strategy,
common purpose and values. The following is a summary of the work which has been done to date
and the future direction of D&I for the Ministry:
2016/17:
Women in the public sector:
We are progressing well with diversity and inclusion of women within the Ministry. This is supported
with the progress that has been made on our Gender Pay Gap (currently 4.2%, well below the Public
Service figure of 12.5%), continued positive results around flexible working from our engagement
survey, and the make-up of our leadership teams (our Ministry Leadership Team is currently 80%
female and 40% Māori, and of our Tier Three cohort 55% are female).
Examples of Ministry initiatives include:


Completion of the Gender Pay Gap Agency Action Plan in June 2017 outlining a commitment
to equity in the employment of women at the Ministry.



Continuing to ensure employees on Parental Leave are included in career development
conversations and remuneration rounds.



Our Women’s Network holds bi-monthly meetings with external and internal speakers, panels,
sharing of resources and knowledge.



Senior Leaders visibly supporting attendance at the ‘Women in the Public Sector Summit’.
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Ethnic Diversity & Inclusion:
Ethnic diversity initiatives to date have largely focused on Māori. 2016/17 saw the proportion of Ministry
staff who are Māori increase to 13%, which is not far below the Public Service figure of 16% and the
NZ population figure of 15%*, initiatives are in progress (ref below) to help improve this figure further.
We have more to do in improving our proportions of Pacific and Asian staff, which are currently 0.9%
Pacific (compared with 8.7% Public Service and 7.4%* NZ population) and 5.2% Asian (compared with
9.4% Public Service and 11.8%* NZ population); this will be incorporated as a focus of our D&I strategy
and goals to be drafted in 2017/18.
Recent and current initiatives include:


Our newly developed Te Arataki strategy includes Key Results Areas to track progress on
supporting and strengthening Māori cultural competence within the Ministry.



Increasing funding and initiatives to support development Māori Cultural competence (25% of
our Learning & Development Budget in 2017, up from 8% in 2016).



Ad hoc activities such as: supporting cultural language weeks, Waiata practice fortnightly,
Māori macron usage available and encouraged, key Ministry documents include bilingual
translations.



Continuing to build on 2016-17 Diversity & Inclusion initiatives in our recruitment processes –
training on unconscious bias, using wider platforms for advertising, including bilingual
information where appropriate to role, exploring options for greater ethnic diversity and looking
to support the employment of disabled people.

*Source: NZ Census, 2013, Stats NZ.
2017/18:
The Ministry intends to complete the following D&I related objectives for the 2017/18 financial year:


Continuing to embed diversity and Inclusion as part of our strategy, values and behaviours
work



Form a Diversity & Inclusion Committee



Complete the Diversity & Inclusion Stocktake



Develop a Diversity & Inclusion strategy including strategic rationale, goals and action plan



Begin implementing and monitoring progress of the D&I action plan



Lifting cultural competency and engagement across the Ministry.
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Capability and engagement measures
The following measures were used to monitor trends in the Ministry’s organisational capability and
health:
What we want to do

Indicator

Performance

Sustain high levels of
engagement for a
responsive, productive
and focussed
workforce

Employee engagement is
at best practice levels
based on engagement
survey results (IBM) –
ratio of at least 30%
engaged to 10%
disengaged

2013: 20% engaged to 14% disengaged
2015: 21% engaged to 16% disengaged
2016: 27% engaged to 8% disengaged
2017: 21.9% engaged to 12.5% disengaged

At least 90% of new
2013: 92%
permanent staff still in the 2014: 80%
same role after 12 months
2015: 78%
2016: 100%
2017: 94%
Average length of service 2013: 5 years
for permanent staff is
2014: 5.6 years
within a range of 4-6
2015: 5.6 years
years
2016: 6.5 years
2017: 6.6 years
Unplanned staff turnover is 2013: 16%
within a range of 10-15% 2014: 7%
2015: 22%
2016: 16%
2017: 23%
Improve the quality of
policy advice and
content we produce

Improvement in rating of 2013: Average rating from NZIER 7.2 out of 10
quality of policy advice by 2014: Average rating from NZIER 7.0 out of 10
independent assessment
2015: Average rating from NZIER 7.6 out of 10
2016: Average rating from NZIER 7.8 out of 10
2017: Average rating from panel of advisors 7.2
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Financial Statements
Ngā Tuhinga tahua
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Statement of responsibility
I am responsible, as Chief Executive of the Ministry for Culture and Heritage for:


the preparation of the Ministry’s financial statements, and statements of expenses and capital
expenditure, and for the judgements expressed in them;



having in place a system of internal control designed to provide reasonable assurance as to
the integrity and reliability of financial reporting;



ensuring that end-of-year performance information on each appropriation administered by the
Ministry is provided in accordance with sections 19A to 19C of the Public Finance Act 1989,
whether or not that information is included in this annual report; and



the accuracy of any end-of-year performance information prepared by the Ministry, whether or
not that information is included in the annual report.

In my opinion:


the financial statements fairly reflect the financial position of the Ministry as at 30 June 2017
and its operations for the year ended on that date; and



the forecast financial statements fairly reflect the forecast financial position of the Ministry as
at 30 June 2018 and its operations for the year ending on that date.

Paul James
Chief Executive
2 October 2017
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Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense
for the year ended 30 June 2017
Actual
2016
$000

Budget*
2017
$000

Actual
2017
$000

Forecast*
2018
$000

18,897

16,747

17,232

18,744

Revenue from other
departments

672

413

835

545

Revenue from third parties

651

505

550

2,511

20,220

17,665

18,617

21,800

Note
Revenue
Revenue Crown

Total revenue
Expenditure
Personnel costs

2

11,030

11,045

10,885

10,794

Other operating expenses

3

7,617

5,924

15,065

10,324

151

430

172

430

116

116

94

102

18,914

17,515

26,216

21,650

1,306

150

(7,599)

150

-

-

1,306

150

Depreciation and
amortisation expenses
Capital charge
Total expenditure
Net surplus/(deficit)

5

Other comprehensive revenue
and expense
Total comprehensive revenue
and expense

(7,599)

-

150

*The statement of accounting policies provides explanations of these figures which are not subject to audit.

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in note 11.
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of financial position
as at 30 June 2017
Actual
2016
$000

Budget*
2017
$000

Actual
2017
$000

Forecast*
2018
$000

3,444

2,347

2,808

2,242

109

250

627

250

Prepayments

2,586

1,552

1,530

1,552

Total current assets

6,139

4,149

4,965

4,044

469

455

467

452

Intangible assets

133

140

99

103

Total non-current assets

602

595

566

555

6,741

4,744

5,531

4,599

Note
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Debtors and other receivables

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

4

Total assets
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Creditors and other payables

6

3,331

2,602

2,268

2,502

Repayment of surplus to the
Crown

8

1,306

150

-

150

Employee entitlements

9

606

450

510

450

5,243

3,202

2,778

3,102

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Employee entitlements

9

51

95

48

50

Provisions

7

-

-

8,857

-

51

95

8,905

50

Total liabilities

5,294

3,297

11,683

3,152

Taxpayers’ funds

1,447

1,447

(6,152)

1,447

Total non-current liabilities

*The statement of accounting policies provides explanations of these figures which are not subject to audit.

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in note 11.
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2017
Actual
2016
$000

Budget*
2017
$000

Balance at 1 July

1,447

1,447

1,447

1,447

Total comprehensive revenue
and expense for the year

1,306

150

(7,599)

150

(1,306)

150

0

(150)

1,447

1,447

(6,152)

1,447

Note

Actual Forecast*
2017
2018
$000
$000

Taxpayers’ funds

Repayment of surplus to the
Crown
Balance at 30 June

8

*The statement of accounting policies provides explanations of these figures which are not subject to audit.

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in note 11.
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 30 June 2017
Actual
2016
$000

Budget*
2017
$000

Actual
2017
$000

Forecast*
2018
$000

17 872

15,722

16,837

17,719

1 323

918

1,262

3,056

(11,095)

(10,925)

(10,984)

(10 894)

(7,076)

(5,176)

(6,156)

(9,199)

Goods and services tax (net)

( 29)

-

( 58)

-

Payments for capital charge

( 116)

( 116)

( 94)

( 102)

879

423

807

580

( 259)

( 390)

( 117)

( 390)

-

-

-

-

Purchase of intangible assets

( 74)

( 40)

( 19)

( 40)

Net cash flows from investing
activities

(333)

(430)

(136)

(430)

Repayment of surplus

(1,435)

(650)

(1,307)

( 150)

Net cash flows from financing
activities

(1,435)

(650)

(1,307)

( 150)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held

(889)

(657)

(636)

-

Cash at the beginning of year

4,333

3,173

3,444

2,808

Cash at the end of year

3,444

2,516

2,808

2,808

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from the Crown
Receipts from other departments/third
parties
Payments to employees
Payments to suppliers

Net cash flows from operating
activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and
equipment
Receipts from sale property, plant and
equipment

Cash flows from financing activities

*The statement of accounting policies provides explanations of these figures which are not subject to audit.
Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in note 11.
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of commitments
as at 30 June 2017
Non-cancellable operating lease commitments
The Ministry leases property, plant and equipment in the normal course of its business, with the main
commitment relating to the premises.
The Ministry has entered into a 15 year lease of the Old Public Trust building, with a commencement
date of 31 October 2015. There are two rights of renewal, each for a three year term and a final expiry
date of 30 October 2036.
There are no restrictions placed on the Ministry by any of its leasing arrangements.
Actual
2016
$000

Actual
2017
$000

782

762

Later than one year and not later than five years

3,129

3,049

Later than five years

7,302

6,354

11,213

10,165

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments
The future aggregate minimum lease payments to be paid under
non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:
Not later than one year

Total non-cancellable operating lease commitments

Capital commitments
Capital commitments are the aggregate amount of capital expenditure contracted for the acquisition of
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets that have not been paid for or not recognised as
a liability at balance date.
The Ministry has $60,000 of capital commitments relating to the development of the Protected Objects
Database. $60,000 is due within one year (2016: $60,000).
Actual
2016
$000

Actual
2017
$000

Later than one year and not later than five years

60

60

Total non-cancellable operating lease commitments

60

60

Capital commitments
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Statement of contingent liabilities and
contingent assets
as at 30 June 2017
Quantifiable contingent liabilities
From March to July 2017, the Auckland Art Gallery Toi o Tāmaki is hosting the exhibition The Body
Laid Bare: Masterpieces from the Tate Gallery. The exhibition is indemnified under the Government
Indemnity of Touring Exhibition Scheme from 7 February 2017 to 28 July 2017 to cover the period of
transit and display of these valuable works of art. The total potential indemnity is up to £258 million,
which translated to $NZD468 million at inception. The indemnity was valued at $NZD459 million based
on exchange rates as at 30 June 2017.
In 2016 the Ministry recorded exit costs for the Great War Exhibition as a contingent liability of $2.6
million. In 2017 the estimated costs have been reassessed, and have been classified as a provision,
see note 7 below.
Contingent assets
The Ministry has no contingent assets at 30 June 2017 (2016: nil).

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements
Note 1: Statement of accounting policies
Reporting Entity
The Ministry for Culture and Heritage (the Ministry) is a government department as defined by section
2 of the Public Finance Act 1989 and is domiciled and operates in New Zealand. The relevant
legislation governing the Ministry’s operations includes the Public Finance Act 1989. The Ministry’s
ultimate parent is the New Zealand Crown.
In addition, the Ministry has reported on Crown activities and Trust monies that it administers on
pages 73 to 85.
The primary objective of the Ministry is to provide services to the public rather than make a financial
return. Accordingly, the Ministry has designated itself as a public benefit entity (PBE) for the purposes
of complying with generally accepted accounting principles.
The financial statements of the Ministry are for the year ended 30 June 2017. The financial statements
were authorised for issue by the Chief Executive of the Ministry on 2 October 2017.

Basis of Preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, and the accounting policies
have been applied consistently throughout the period.
Statement of compliance
The financial statements of the Ministry have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of
the Public Finance Act 1989, which include the requirement to comply with New Zealand generally
accepted accounting practice (NZ GAAP), and Treasury Instructions.
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Tier 2 PBE Standards and
disclosure concessions have been applied. The criteria under which an entity is eligible to report in
accordance with Tier 2 PBE Standards are:
 The Ministry is not large as defined in paragraph 36 of XRB A1.
 The Ministry does not have public accountability as defined in paragraph 42 of XRB A1.
These financial statements comply with Tier 2 PBE accounting standards.
Presentation currency and rounding
The financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand dollars ($000). The functional currency of the Ministry is New Zealand dollars.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Revenue
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable.
Revenue Crown
Revenue from the Crown is measured based on the Ministry’s funding entitlement for the reporting
period. The funding entitlement is established by Parliament when it passes the Appropriation Acts
for the financial year. The amount of revenue recognised takes into account any amendments to
appropriations approved in the Appropriation (Supplementary Estimates) Act for the year and certain
other unconditional funding adjustments formally approved prior to balance date.
There are no conditions attached to the funding from the Crown. However, the Ministry can incur
expenses only within the scope and limits of its appropriations.
The fair value of Revenue Crown has been determined to be equivalent to the funding entitlement.
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Other revenue
Other departmental and third-party revenue is predominantly derived from work performed on a full
cost-recovery basis, contributions to other one-off projects, and reimbursement for costs of staff on
secondment to other agencies. Revenue is recognised when earned and is reported in the financial
period to which it relates.
The sale of publications is recognised when the product is sold to the customer. The recorded revenue
is the gross amount of the sale.
Capital charge
The capital charge is recognised as an expense in the financial year to which the charge relates.
Grant expenditure
Discretionary grants are those grants where the Ministry has no obligation to award on receipt of the
grant application. They are recognised as expenditure when approved by the Grants Approvals
Committee and the approval has been communicated to the applicant. The Ministry’s grants awarded
have no substantive conditions attached.
Foreign Currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions (including those for which forward foreign exchange contracts are held)
are translated into $NZ (the functional currency) using the spot exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions,
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies, are recognised in the surplus or deficit.
Leases
Operating leases
An operating lease is a lease that does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an asset to the lessee. Lease payments under an operating lease are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives received are recognised in
the surplus or deficit as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term.
Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs,
unless they are carried at fair value through surplus or deficit, in which case the transaction costs are
recognised in the surplus or deficit.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, and other shortterm highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.
The Ministry is only permitted to expend its cash and cash equivalents within the scope and limits of
its appropriations.
Debtors and other receivables
Debtors and other receivables are recorded at their face value, less any provision for impairment.
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment consists of the following asset classes: artwork, leasehold
improvements, office furniture, office equipment and computer equipment.
Property, plant and equipment is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses.
Individual assets, or groups of assets, are capitalised if their cost is greater than $2,000. The value of
an individual asset that is less than $2,000 and is part of a group of similar assets is capitalised. In
addition, information communications technology (ICT) assets that individually cost more than $1,000
each and have a useful life greater than 12 months are capitalised.
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Additions
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset only when it is probable
that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the Ministry and
the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
Work in progress is recognised at cost less impairment and is not depreciated.
In most instances, an item of property, plant or equipment is recognised at its cost. Where an asset
is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, it is recognised at its fair value as at the date of
acquisition.
Disposals
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the disposal proceeds with the carrying
amount of the asset. Gains and losses on disposals are reported net in the surplus or deficit.
Subsequent costs
Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised only when it is probable that future
economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the Ministry and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably.
The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in the surplus or
deficit as they are incurred.
Depreciation
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, plant and equipment, at rates that will
write-off the cost (or valuation) of the assets to their estimated residual values over their useful lives.
The useful lives and associated depreciation rates of major classes of assets have been estimated
as follows:
Office Furniture
Office Equipment
Computer Equipment – PC based
Computer Equipment – other than PCs
Artwork

5 years
5 years
3 – 5 years
2 – 5 years
100 years

20%
20%
20% - 33%
20% - 50%
1%

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated
remaining useful lives of the improvements, whichever is the shorter.
The residual value and useful life of an asset is reviewed, and adjusted if applicable, at each financial
year end.
Intangible assets
Software acquisition
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and
bring into use the specific software. Software is capitalised if its cost is greater than $2,000.
Costs associated with maintaining computer software are recognised as expenses when incurred.
Staff training costs are recognised as expenses when incurred.
Costs of software updates or upgrades are only capitalised when they increase the usefulness or
value of the software.
Costs associated with development and maintenance of the Ministry’s websites are recognised as an
expense when incurred.
Amortisation
The carrying value of an intangible asset with a finite life is amortised on a straight-line basis over its
useful life. Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use and ceases at the date that the
asset is derecognised. The amortisation charge for each period is recognised in the surplus or deficit.
The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of major classes of intangible assets have been
estimated as follows: Acquired Computer Software 3 - 5 years 20% - 50%.
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Impairment of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets
The Ministry does not hold any cash-generating assets. Assets are considered cash-generating
where their primary objective is to generate a commercial return.
Non-cash generating assets
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets held at cost that have a finite useful life are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable service amount. The recoverable service amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
Value in use is depreciated replacement cost for an asset where future economic benefits or service
potential of the asset are not primarily dependent on the asset’s ability to generate net cash inflows
and where the Ministry would, if deprived of the asset, replace its remaining future economic benefits
or service potential.
If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is impaired and the carrying
amount is written down to the recoverable amount. The impairment loss is recognised in the surplus
or deficit. The reversal of an impairment loss is also recognised in the surplus or deficit.
Creditors and other payables
Creditors and other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms.
Creditors and other payables are recorded at their face value.
Employee entitlements
Short-term employee entitlements
Employee entitlements expected to be settled within 12 months of balance date are measured at
nominal values based on accrued entitlements at current rates of pay.
These include salaries and wages accrued up to balance date, annual leave and time off in lieu earned
but not yet taken at balance date, and retiring and long service leave entitlements expected to be
settled within 12 months.
A liability and an expense are recognised for bonuses where the Ministry has a contractual obligation
or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.
Long-term employee entitlements
Employee entitlements that are due to be settled beyond 12 months after the end of the reporting
period in which the employee renders the related service, such as long service leave and retiring
leave, are calculated on an actuarial basis. The calculations are based on:



likely future entitlements accruing to staff, based on years of service, years to entitlement, the
likelihood that staff will reach the point of entitlement, and contractual entitlements information; and
the present value of the estimated future cash flows.

Expected future payments are discounted using market yields on government bonds at balance date
with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows for
entitlements. The inflation factor is based on the expected long-term increase in remuneration for
employees. The Ministry uses the risk-free discount rates and consumer price index assumptions
published annually by The Treasury.
Presentation of employee entitlements
Annual leave, long service leave and retirement gratuities expected to be settled within 12 months of
balance date are classified as a current liability. All other employee entitlements are classified as a
non-current liability.
The Ministry does not recognise any provision for sick leave as employees are not entitled to accrue
sick leave during their period of employment.
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Superannuation schemes
Defined contribution schemes
Obligations for contributions to the State Sector Retirement Savings Scheme, Kiwisaver, and
Government Superannuation Fund are accounted for as defined contribution schemes and are
recognised as an expense in the surplus or deficit as incurred.
Equity
Equity is the Crown’s investment in the Ministry and is measured as the difference between total
assets and total liabilities. Equity is classified as taxpayers’ funds.
Commitments
Expenses yet to be incurred on non-cancellable contracts that have been entered into on or before
balance date are disclosed as commitments to the extent that there are equally unperformed
obligations. Information on non-cancellable capital and lease commitments are reported in the
statement of commitments.
Cancellable commitments that have penalty or exit costs explicit in the agreement on exercising that
option to cancel are included in the statement of commitments at the lower of the remaining
contractual commitment and the value of that penalty or exit cost.
Goods and services tax
All items in the financial statements, including appropriation statements, are stated exclusive of goods
and service tax (GST), except for receivables and payables, which are stated on a GST-inclusive
basis. Where GST is not recoverable as input tax, then it is recognised as part of the related asset or
expense.
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Inland Revenue Department (IRD) is
included as part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.
The net GST paid to, or received from the IRD, including the GST relating to investing and financing
activities, is classified as an operating cash flow in the statement of cash flows.
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive of GST.
Income tax
Government departments are exempt from income tax as public authorities. Accordingly, no provision
has been made for income tax.
Statement of cost accounting policies
The Ministry has determined the cost of outputs using the cost allocation system outlined below.
Direct costs are those directly attributed to an output. Indirect costs are those that cannot be identified
in an economically feasible manner with a specific output.
Direct costs are charged directly to outputs. Indirect costs are allocated to outputs through a twostage process. The costs are assigned to cost centres within the Ministry, and then allocated to
outputs on the basis of the direct staff costs attributable to the outputs of that cost centre. Depreciation
and capital charge are allocated on the basis of asset utilisation. Personnel costs are charged directly
to the cost centre within the output to which they belong and at the time they were incurred.
There have been no changes in cost accounting policies since the date of the last audited financial
statements.
Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
In preparing these financial statements, estimates and assumptions have been made concerning the
future. These estimates and assumptions may differ from the subsequent actual results. Estimates
and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
There are no estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
Management has exercised the following critical judgements in applying accounting policies for the
year ended 30 June 2017.
Operating leases
Determining whether a lease agreement is a finance lease or an operating lease requires judgement
as to whether the agreement transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the
Ministry. Judgement is required on various aspects that include, but are not limited to, the fair value
of the leased asset, the economic life of the leased asset, whether or not to include renewal options
in the lease term, and determining an appropriate discount rate to calculate the present value of the
minimum lease payments. Classification as a finance lease means the asset is recognised in the
statement of financial position as property, plant and equipment, whereas with an operating lease
no such asset is recognised. The Ministry has exercised its judgement on the appropriate
classification of equipment leases, and has determined all lease arrangements to be operating
leases.
Budget and forecast figures
Basis of the budget and forecast figures
The budget figures are those included in the Information Supporting the Estimates of Appropriations
(Budget) for the year ending 30 June 2017 The Budget is 2016 Budget Economic and Fiscal Update
(BEFU 2016).
The forecast figures are those included in the Estimates of Appropriations for the year ending 30 June
2018. The forecast financial statements have been prepared as required by the Public Finance Act to
communicate forecast financial information for accountability purposes.
The budget and forecast figures are unaudited and have been prepared using the accounting policies
adopted in preparing these financial statements.
The 30 June 2017 forecast figures have been prepared in accordance with PBE FRS 42 Prospective
Financial Statements and comply with PBE FRS 42.
The forecast financial statements were approved for issue by the Chief Executive on 7 April 2017.
The Chief Executive is responsible for the forecast financial statements, including the appropriateness
of the assumptions underlying them and all other required disclosures.
While the Ministry regularly updates its forecasts, updated forecast financial statements for the year
ended 30 June 2018 will not be published.
Significant assumptions used in preparing the forecast financials
The forecast figures contained in these financial statements reflect the Ministry’s purpose and
activities and are based on a number of assumptions on what may occur during the 2017/18 year.
The forecast figures have been compiled on the basis of existing government policies and Ministerial
expectations at the time the Main Estimates were finalised.
The main assumptions, which were adopted as at 7 April 2017, were as follows:
 The Ministry’s activities and output expectations will remain substantially the same as the previous
year focusing on the Government’s priorities.
 Operating costs were based on historical experience and other factors that are believed to be
reasonable in the circumstances and are the Ministry’s best estimate of future costs that will be
incurred. Remuneration rates are based on current wages and salary costs, adjusted for
anticipated remuneration changes.
 Estimated year-end information for 2016/17 was used as the opening position for the 2017/18
forecasts.
The actual financial results achieved for 30 June 2018 are likely to vary from the forecast information
presented, and the variations may be material.
Since the approval of the forecast, no following significant events have occurred which would have a
material impact on forecast revenue and expenditure.
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Note 2: Personnel costs
Actual
2016
$000

Actual
2017
$000

10,457

10,453

Training and development

143

117

Employer contributions to defined contribution plans*

322

333

Other personnel costs

108

(18)

11,030

10,885

Salaries and wages

Total personnel costs

* Employer contributions to defined contribution plans include contributions to the State Sector Retirement Savings Scheme,
Kiwisaver, and Government Superannuation Fund.

The Ministry had 121 FTE positions (including vacancies) at 30 June 2017 (2016: 113).

Note 3: Other operating expenses

Actual
2016
$000

Actual
2017
$000

59

63

1,760

10,653

Other occupancy expenses

226

225

Publicity and research

239

253

Professional and specialist services – Consultancy

1,038

593

Professional and specialist services - Contractors

1,130

808

Travel and associated expenses

245

262

Information communication technology

666

715

1,929

986

325

507

7,617

15,065

Fees to Audit New Zealand for audit of financial statements
Rental and leasing expenses

Transfer to agencies**
Other operating expenses
Total operating expenses

** Transfers to agencies relates to work for the Cultural Diplomacy International Programme and the National Military
Heritage Trust (Great War Exhibition)
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Note 4: Property, plant and equipment
Computer
Office
Office
Leasehold Works
equipment equipment furniture improvements of Art
$000
$000
$000
$000
$000

Total
000

Cost
Balance at 1 July 2015

526

60

365

374

21

1,346

45

58

4

151

-

258

-

8

-

0

-

8

Disposals

(33)

(16)

(40)

(240)

-

(329)

Balance at 30 June
and 1 July 2016

538

110

329

285

21

1,283

Additions

65

-

41

8

-

114

Disposals

-

(1)

-

-

-

(1)

Work in progress

-

-

4

-

-

4

603

109

374

293

21

1,400

Balance at 1 July 2015

295

56

362

311

2

1,026

Depreciation expense

94

9

2

10

-

115

Elimination on disposal

(32)

(16)

(40)

(240)

-

(328)

Balance at 30 June
and 1 July 2016

357

49

324

81

2

813

86

14

5

14

1

120

-

-

-

-

-

0

443

63

329

95

3

933

At 1 July 2016

231

4

3

63

19

320

At 30 June and 1 July
2017

181

61

5

204

19

470

At 30 June 2017

160

46

45

198

18

467

Additions
Work in Progress

Balance at 30 June
2017
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses

Depreciation expense
Elimination on disposal
Balance at 30 June
2017
Carrying amounts

* Work in progress includes a lectern being constructed for the National War Memorial ($4,000). No other asset classes
have assets in the course of construction (2016: sound-proofing of meeting rooms at the Old Public Trust Building ($8,000).

There are no restrictions over the title of the Ministry’s assets. No assets are pledged as security for
liabilities.
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Note 5: Capital charge
The Ministry pays a capital charge to the Crown on its equity (adjusted for memorandum accounts) as
at 30 June and 31 December each year. The capital charge rate for the year ended 30 June 2017 was
7% from 1 July 2016 to 31 December 2016 and then 6% from 1 January 2017 (2016: 8%).

Note 6: Creditors and other payables
Actual
2016
$000

Actual
2017
$000

Trade creditors

260

276

Accrued expenses

357

302

Total payables and deferred revenue under exchange
transactions

617

578

GST payable

123

66

PAYE payable

114

125

Deferred Revenue

2,477

1,499

Total payables and deferred revenue

3,331

2,268

Payables and deferred revenue under exchange
transactions

Payables and deferred revenue under non-exchange
transactions

Creditors and other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms.
Therefore, the carrying value of creditors and other payables approximates their fair value.

Note 7: Provisions
Lease make-good provision
The Ministry leases part of the Dominion Museum Building. The building is sublet to the National
Military Heritage Trust to provide a venue for the Great War Exhibition. Should the exhibition be
discontinued, the National Military Heritage Trust will be required to make-good any alterations to the
premises and remove any fixtures and fittings installed for the exhibition.
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Actual
2016
$000

Actual
2017
$000

Balance at 1 July 2016

-

-

Additional provisions made

-

8,857

Amounts used

-

-

Balance at 30 June 2017

-

8,857

Total provisions

-

8,857

Current portion

-

-

Non-current portion

-

8,857

Total provisions

-

8,857

Lease make-good

Note 8: Return of operating surplus
The return of operating surplus to the Crown is required to be paid by 31 October each year. There is
no surplus in the current year to be returned (2016: Surplus of $1,306,000).

Note 9: Employee entitlements
Actual
2016
$000

Actual
2017
$000

559

485

47

25

606

510

51

48

0

0

51

48

657

558

Current portion
Annual leave
Long service leave
Total current portion
Non-current portion
Long service leave
Retirement leave
Total non-current portion
Total employee entitlements

The measurement of the long service and retirement leave obligations depends on a number of factors
that are determined on an actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. Two key assumptions used
in calculating this liability include the discount rate and the salary inflation factor. Any changes in these
assumptions will affect the carrying amount of the liability.
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The discount rate is based on New Zealand government bond data at 30 June 2017. The salary
inflation factor has been determined after considering historical patterns and after obtaining advice
from an independent actuary. The Ministry uses the risk-free discount rates and consumer price index
assumptions published annually by The Treasury.

Note 10: Related party transactions
The Ministry is a wholly owned entity of the Crown. The Government significantly influences the roles
of the Ministry, as well as being its major source of revenue. All related party transactions have been
entered into on an arm’s length basis.
Related party disclosures have not been made for transactions with related parties that are within a
normal supplier or client/recipient relationship, on terms and conditions no more or less favourable
than those that it is reasonable to expect the Ministry would have adopted in dealing with the party at
arm’s length in the same circumstances. Further, transactions with other government agencies (for
example, government departments and Crown entities) are not disclosed as related party transactions
when they are consistent with the normal operating arrangements between government agencies and
undertaken on the normal terms and conditions for such transactions.
Significant transactions with government-related entities
The Ministry has received funding from the Crown of $17.232 million (2016: $18.897 million) to provide
services to the public for the year ended 30 June 2017.
Transactions with key management personnel and their close family members
Key management personnel compensation:

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits
Other long-term benefits
Total key management personnel compensation

Actual
2016
$000

Actual
2017
$000

1,010

1,120

5

8

1,015

1,128

Key management personnel of the Ministry comprise the Minister for Arts, Culture and Heritage, the
Minister of Broadcasting (disestablished December 2016), the Minister for Sport and Recreation, the
Chief Executive, and the four members of the Ministry Leadership Team.
The key management personnel compensation stated above reflects remuneration and other benefits
of five FTEs, being the Chief Executive and Ministry Leadership Team. It excludes the remuneration
and other benefits received by the Minister for Arts, Culture and Heritage, the Minister of Broadcasting,
and the Minister for Sport and Recreation. The Ministers’ remuneration and other benefits are not
received only for their role as a member of key management personnel of the Ministry. The Ministers’
remuneration and other benefits are set by the Remuneration Authority under the Civil List Act 1979
and are paid under Permanent Legislative Authority, and not paid by the Ministry.
There are two close family members of key management personnel employed by the Ministry. The
terms and conditions of these arrangements are no more favourable than the Ministry would have
adopted if there were no relationship to key management personnel.
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Note 11: Explanation of major variances against budget
Explanations for major variances from the Ministry’s budgeted figures in the Information Supporting
the Estimates are as follows:
Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense
Crown Revenue
Crown revenue was $0.485 million higher than originally budgeted due to transfers of WW100,
Heritage Services projects and Cultural Policy projects funding from 2015/16 to 2016/17.
Other Departmental Revenue
Other departmental revenue was $0.422 million higher than originally budgeted due to amounts
received from departments for Ministry staff secondments to other agencies.
Other Operating expenses
Other operating expenditure was $9.141 million higher than originally budget due to the recognition of
a provision for make-good costs against the lease of the Dominion Museum in the amount of $8.857
million. This matter was previously disclosed as a contingent liability. This provision is also recognised
in the statement of financial position.
Statement of financial position
Debtors and other receivables
Debtors and other receivables have increased by $0.377 million primarily due to the Ministry not
drawing down all Crown funding for the period.

Note 12: Events after the balance date
No event has occurred since the end of the financial period (not otherwise dealt with in the financial
statements) that has affected, or may significantly affect, the Ministry’s operations or state of affairs for
the year ended 30 June 2017.

Ministry for Culture and Heritage Annual Report 2016-17/

72

Non-departmental statements and schedules
for the year ended 30 June 2017
The following non-departmental statements and schedules record the revenue, expenses, assets,
liabilities, commitments, contingent liabilities, contingent assets, and trust accounts that the Ministry
manages on behalf of the Crown.

Schedule of non-departmental revenue
for the year ended 30 June 2017
Actual
2016
$000

Budget*
2017
$000

Actual
2017
$000

6

-

9

Miscellaneous

203

-

203

Total non-departmental revenue

209

-

212

Vote Arts, Culture and Heritage
Broadcasting Standards Authority – fines

*The statement of accounting policies provides explanations of these figures which are not subject to audit.

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in note 5.
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the results of its operations for the year, refer to the
consolidated Financial Statements of the Government for the year ended 30 June 2017.
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Schedule of non-departmental expenses
for the year ended 30 June 2017
Actual
2016
$000

Budget*
2017
$000

Actual
2017
$000

19,663

43,144

40,008

305,176

307,549

313,055

158

159

175

48,379

52,628

51,208

373,376

403,480

404,446

Vote Arts, Culture & Heritage and
Vote Sport and Recreation
Grants, subsidy and benefit expenses
Other operating expenses
Depreciation – buildings
GST input expense
Total non-departmental expenses

*The statement of accounting policies provides explanations of these figures which are not subject to audit.

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in note 5.
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the results of its operations for the year, refer to the
consolidated Financial Statements of the Government for the year ended 30 June 2017.
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Schedule of non-departmental assets
as at 30 June 2017

Assets
Current assets

Note

Cash and cash equivalents
Debtors and other receivables
Total current assets

Actual
2016
$000

Budget*
2017
$000

Actual
2017
$000

7,018

3,795

9,423

-

-

-

7,018

3,795

9,423

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Land

3

27,250

27,735

27,275

Buildings

2

7,904

8,509

7,955

Leasehold improvements

4

223

0

682

Total non-current assets

35,377

36,244

35,912

Total non-departmental assets

42,395

40,039

45,335

*The statement of accounting policies provides explanations of these figures which are not subject to audit.

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in note 5.
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the results of its operations for the year, refer to the
consolidated Financial Statements of the Government for the year ended 30 June 2017.
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Schedule of non-departmental liabilities
as at 30 June 2017
Actual
2016
$000

Budget*
2017
$000

Actual
2017
$000

Creditors and other payables

738

200

10,430

Total current liabilities

738

200

10,430

Total non-departmental liabilities

738

200

10,430

Liabilities
Current liabilities

*The statement of accounting policies provides explanations of these figures which are not subject to audit.

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in note 5.
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the results of its operations for the year, refer to the
consolidated Financial Statements of the Government for the year ended 30 June 2017.
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Schedule of non-departmental contingent liabilities
and contingent assets
as at 30 June 2017
Contingent liabilities
Claims have been made to the Ministry on behalf of the Crown, under the Public Works Act 1981, for
compensation resulting from the acquisition of the easement taken under section 18 of the National
War Memorial Park (Pukeahu) Empowering Act 2012, enabling part of the Park to be constructed on
land owned by the claimants. Landscaping related to the Park has been undertaken on this land.
Section 18 of the National War Memorial Park (Pukeahu) Empowering Act 2012 entitles the
landowners to compensation under the Public Works Act 1981 for the taking of this easement. The
compensation claimed is $4.604 million. This amount is accruing interest and the total claim therefore
expected is approximately $6 million.
(2016 $4.604 million under the Public Works Act 1981 for compensation resulting from the acquisition
of the easement taken under section 18 of the National War Memorial Park (Pukeahu). Total claim
therefore expected is approximately $6 million.)
Contingent assets
The Ministry on behalf of the Crown has no contingent assets (2016: nil).

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the results of its operations for the year, refer to the
consolidated Financial Statements of the Government for the year ended 30 June 2017.
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Schedule of non-departmental commitments
as at 30 June 2017
The Ministry, on behalf of the Crown, has no non-cancellable operating lease commitments (2016: nil).

Capital commitments
Capital commitments are the aggregate amount of capital expenditure contracted for the acquisition of
property, plant, and equipment.
Actual
2016
$000

Actual
2017
$000

Property, plant, and equipment

360

-

Total capital commitments

360

-

Capital commitments

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the results of its operations for the year, refer to the
consolidated Financial Statements of the Government for the year ended 30 June 2017.
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Statement of trust monies
for the year ended 30 June 2017

New Zealand Historical
Atlas
New Zealand History
Research
New Zealand Oral
History Awards
Dictionary of New
Zealand Biography

Opening
balance
2016
$000

Distributions
$000

Revenue
$000

Expenditure
$000

Closing
balance
2017
$000

152

-

8

-

160

880

(122)

26

-

784

1,421

(49)

40

-

1,412

15

-

1

-

16

99

-

3

(32)

70

8

-

-

-

8

2,575

(171)

78

(32)

2,450

War History
National War Memorial
Endowment Fund
Total

New Zealand Historical Atlas Trust
This trust was established to hold New Zealand Lottery Grants Board funds, donations and royalties
from sales, to be used for the production of the New Zealand Historical Atlas and subsidiary volumes.
In 2017 the Trust earned $8,000 in royalties and interest (2016: $5,000).
New Zealand History Research Trust
This trust was established to hold New Zealand Lottery Grants Board funds to be used to make awards
to individuals and groups for historical research and writing projects. In 2017 the Trust earned $26,000
in interest (2016: $32,000). During 2017, 11 awards were made for a total of $122,000 (2016: 11
awards: $122,000).
New Zealand Oral History Awards
This trust was established to hold funds from the Government of the Commonwealth of Australia, gifted
to New Zealand in 1990 specifically to gather oral histories of importance to this country. The income
from these funds is used to promote oral history in New Zealand. In 2017 the Trust earned $40,000 in
interest (2016: $56,000). During 2017, 13 award payments were made for a total of $49,000 (2016: 34
awards; $134,000).
Dictionary of New Zealand Biography Trust
This trust was established to hold funds from the New Zealand Lottery Grants Board, sales of
publications, and private sponsorship or fundraising for the production of the Dictionary of New Zealand
Biography and subsidiary volumes. In 2017 the Trust earned $1,000 in interest (2016: $1,000).
War History Trust
This trust was established to hold funds bequeathed to the Ministry by the estate of Mr J B Watson, a
long-time supporter of research into New Zealand’s military history. The funds and any interest income
are to be used for the researching and writing of works on New Zealand’s involvement in overseas
conflicts. In 2017 the Trust earned $3,000 in interest (2016: $8,000).
National War Memorial Endowment Fund
Holds funds donated to the RNZRSA to be applied and previously managed by the National War
Memorial Advisory Council for certain activities at the National War Memorial.
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Notes to the non-departmental schedules and
statements
Note 1: Statement of accounting policies
Reporting Entity
These non-departmental schedules and statements present financial information on public funds that
are managed by the Ministry on behalf of the Crown.
These non-departmental balances are consolidated into the Financial Statements of the Government
for the year ended 30 June 2017. For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position, results of
operations, and cash flows for the year, refer to the Financial Statements of the Government for the
year ended 30 June 2017.

Basis of Preparation
The non-departmental schedules and statements have been prepared in accordance with the
accounting policies of the Financial Statements of the Government, Treasury Instructions, and
Treasury Circulars.
Measurement and recognition rules applied in the preparation of these non-departmental statements
and schedules are consistent with New Zealand generally accepted accounting practice (Tier 1 Public
Sector Public Benefit Entity Accounting Standards) as appropriate for public benefit entities.

Significant Accounting Policies
Revenue
Revenue from fines and other receipts is recognised when received.
Grant expenditure
Non-discretionary grants are those awarded if the grant application meets specified criteria. They are
recognised as expenditure when an application that meets the specified criteria for the grant has been
received.
Discretionary grants are those grants where the Ministry has no obligation to award on receipt of the
grant application. They are recognised as expenditure when approved by the grants approvals
committee and the approval has been communicated to the applicant.
Grants with substantive conditions are recognised as an expense at the earlier of the grant payment
date or when the grant conditions have been satisfied.
Foreign exchange
Foreign currency transactions are translated into New Zealand dollars using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions, and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, are recognised in the schedule of nondepartmental revenue or expenses.
Goods and services tax
All items in the financial statements, including appropriation statements, are stated exclusive of goods
and services tax (GST), except for receivables and payables, which are stated on a GST-inclusive
basis. In accordance with Treasury Instructions, GST is returned on revenue received on behalf of the
Crown, where applicable. However, an input tax deduction is not claimed on non-departmental
expenditure. Instead, the amount of GST applicable to non-departmental expenditure is recognised as
a separate expense and eliminated against GST revenue on consolidation of the Financial Statements
of the Government.
Ministry for Culture and Heritage Annual Report 2016-17/

80

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, and deposits held at call with banks with maturities
of three months or less.
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment administered by the Ministry on behalf of the Crown includes land, nonresidential buildings and leasehold improvements. These assets are carried at fair value less
subsequent impairment losses and, for non-land assets, less subsequent accumulated depreciation.
Land and buildings are revalued every three years. If it is established during the intervening period that
an item of plant, property and equipment’s carrying value may be materially different from its fair value,
a revaluation will be sought.
Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis at rates calculated to allocate the cost or valuation of
an item of property, plant and equipment, less any estimated residual value, over its estimated useful
life.
The Ministry, on behalf of the Crown, currently depreciates non-residential buildings at 2% per annum.
Leasehold improvements are depreciated 6.67%.
Creditors and other payables
Creditors and other payables are recorded at their face value.
Commitments
Future expenses and liabilities to be incurred on non-cancellable contracts that have been entered into
at balance date are disclosed as commitments to the extent that there are equally unperformed
obligations. Information on non-cancellable capital and lease commitments are reported in the
Schedule of Commitments.
Cancellable commitments that have penalty or exit costs in the agreement, on exercising that option
to cancel, are included in the statement of commitments at the lower of the remaining contractual
commitment and the value of that penalty or exit cost.
Budget figures
The budget figures are those included in the Estimates of Appropriations (Budget) for the year ending
30 June 2017. The Budget is 2016 Budget Economic and Fiscal Update (BEFU 2016). The budget
figures have been prepared in accordance with NZ GAAP, using accounting policies that are
consistent with those adopted in preparing these financial statements.
Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
In preparing these financial statements, estimates and assumptions have been made concerning the
future. These estimates and assumptions may differ from the subsequent actual results. Estimates
and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
There are no estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
Trust Monies
The Ministry administers trust monies on behalf of the Crown under Part VII of the Public Finance Act
1989. Under the Act, and by delegation from the Secretary to the Treasury, trust money can only be
invested on deposit with New Zealand registered banks or in New Zealand Government stock. Trust
money is also managed so that there is no significant concentration of credit risk. Interest rate risk is
managed by investing across a wide range of maturity dates, subject to liquidity requirements.
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Note 2: Non-residential Buildings
Massey
Memorial

National Total NonWar residential
Memorial Buildings

$000

$000

$000

700

7,220

7,920

Additions

-

142

142

Revaluation

-

-

-

700

7,362

8,062

Additions

-

-

-

Work in Progress

-

213

213

Revaluation

-

-

-

700

7,575

8,275

-

-

-

Depreciation expense

14

144

158

Balance at 30 June / 1 July 2016

14

144

158

Depreciation expense

14

148

162

-

-

-

28

292

320

At 1 July 2015

700

7,220

7,920

At 30 June and 1 July 2016

686

7,218

7,904

At 30 June 2017

672

7,283

7,955

Cost or valuation
Balance at 1 July 2015

Balance at 30 June / 1 July 2016

Balance at 30 June 2017
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses
Balance at 1 July 2015

Depreciation reversal on revaluation
Balance at 30 June 2017
Carrying amounts

The National War Memorial and Massey Memorial were revalued as at 30 June 2015 by Aon Risk
Solutions (an independent registered valuer) using depreciated building cost in accordance with NZ
IAS PBE standards. The Ministry on behalf of the Crown revalues the memorials every three years.
The balance of the revaluation reserve at 30 June 2017 is nil (2016: nil).
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Note 3: Land
Massey
Memorial

National
War
Memorial

Pukeahu
National War
Memorial Park

Total
Land

$000

$000

$000

$000

815

4,500

20,790

26,105

Additions

-

-

1,145

1,145

Revaluation

-

-

-

-

815

4,500

21,935

27,250

Additions

-

-

25

25

Revaluation

-

-

-

-

815

4,500

21,960

27,275

Cost or valuation
Balance at 1 July 2015

Balance at 30 June / 1 July 2016

Balance at 30 June 2017

The National War Memorial, New Zealand Memorial Park and the Massey Memorial were revalued as
at 30 June 2015 by Aon Risk Solutions (an independent valuer) using market-based evidence in
accordance with NZ IAS PBE accounting standards. The Ministry on behalf of the Crown revalues the
land every three years. The balance of the revaluation reserve at 30 June 2017 is $1.503 million (2016:
$1.503 million).
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Note 4: Leasehold improvements
Queen Elizabeth II
Total
Pukeahu Education
Leasehold
Centre Improvements
$000

$000

-

-

223

223

-

-

Balance at 30 June / 1 July 2016

223

223

Additions

472

472

-

-

695

695

Balance at 1 July 2015

-

-

Depreciation expense

-

-

Balance at 30 June / 1 July 2016

-

-

13

13

-

-

13

13

0

0

At 30 June and 1 July 2016

223

223

At 30 June 2017

682

682

Cost or valuation
Balance at 1 July 2015
Additions
Revaluation

Revaluation
Balance at 30 June 2017
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

Depreciation expense
Depreciation reversal on revaluation
Balance at 30 June 2017
Carrying amounts
At 1 July 2015

In 2016 work started on the refurbishment of the former Home of Compassion crèche located within
Pukeahu National War Memorial Park. The fit-out work was completed in March 2017.
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Note 5: Explanations of major variances against budget
The major variances from the Ministry’s non-departmental estimated figures in the Main Estimates are
as follows:
Schedule of non-departmental revenue and expenses
Grant and Subsidy Expenses
These appropriations were $3.136 million less than originally budgeted due to




delays in implementation of the Earthquake-prone Heritage Buildings Upgrade Incentive
Programme funding, with no grants awarded in the current year. This is a multi-year
appropriation and the funds are available in 2017/18;
lower than expected grants under the Regional Culture and Heritage Fund as some approved
grants remain conditional at balance date. This is a multi-year appropriation and the funds are
available in 2017/18; and
higher than expected Screen Production Grants as there was a greater value of New Zealand
screen productions supported during the year. New Zealand Screen production grants are a
funding pool available under a multi-year appropriation.

Other Operating Expenses
These appropriations were $5.506 million higher than originally budgeted largely due to additional
funding provided to Drugfree Sport NZ and Sport NZ. These funding initiatives were incorporated into
the Budget package voted in by Cabinet after the original forecast budget was set. Other variances
relate to expense transfers from 2015/16 for completion of capital works at the National War
Memorial.
Schedule of non-departmental assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash at year end was $5.628 million higher than budgeted predominantly due to a full draw down
against the New Zealand Screen Production Grant funding whereas a final amount of $4.228 million
accrued at year end. The balance relates to smaller underspends in various appropriations where the
full cash draw down was made.
Property, Plant and Equipment
The variance to budget is due to the timing and costs of the completion of the Queen Elizabeth II
Pukeahu Education Centre and related improvements at Pukeahu National War Memorial park in
2016/17.
Schedule of non-departmental liabilities
Current Liabilities
Current liabilities are $10.230 million higher than budgeted due to additional amounts owing at balance
date related to the New Zealand Screen Production Grant ($4.228 million), and the Regional Culture
and Heritage Fund (of $5.949 million).
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APPROPRIATION STATEMENTS
The following statements report information about the expenses and capital expenditure incurred
against each appropriation administered by the Ministry for the year ended 30 June 2017. They are
prepared on a GST exclusive basis.
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Statement of budgeted and actual expenses and
capital expenditure incurred against appropriations
for the year ended 30 June 2017
Actual
expenditure
2016
$000

Appropriation
voted
$000

Actual
expenditure
2017
$000

Heritage services

9,034

8,755

8,349

1

Policy advice, monitoring of
funded agencies and
ministerial services MCOA**

5,575

6,462

6,262

1

781

904

884

- Monitoring of funded
agencies

1,784

2,067

2,021

- Policy advice

3,010

3,491

3,357

First World War Centenary

3,085

1,796

10,380

Total departmental Vote
Arts, Culture and Heritage

17,694

17,013

24,991

Purchase advice and
monitoring of sport and
recreation Crown entities

328

319

317

Total departmental Vote
Sport and Recreation

328

319

317

18,022

17,332

25,308

430

168

Vote Arts, Culture and
Heritage
Appropriations for output
expenses

- Ministerial servicing

Location of
end-of-year
performance
information**

1

Vote Sport and Recreation
Appropriations for output
expenses

Total departmental Vote
Arts, Culture & Heritage and
Vote Sport and Recreation Departmental

1

Appropriation for capital expenditure
Ministry for Culture and Heritage
– Permanent Legislative
Authority

339
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Actual
expenditure
2016
$000

Appropriation
voted*
$000

Location of
Actual
end-of-year
expenditure performance
2017 information*
$000
*

VOTE ARTS, CULTURE AND HERITAGE
Appropriations for non-departmental output expenses
Management of historic
places
Antarctic Heritage Trust
New Zealand Historic Places
Trust

526

706

706

5

12,988

12,988

12,988

5

13,514

13,694

13,694

29,574

29,574

29,574

5

5,020

5,020

5,020

5

34,594

34,594

34,594

13,446

14,646

14,646

5

4,384

5,384

5,384

5

1,248

1,948

1,948

5

1,578

1,578

1,578

5

20,656

23,556

23,556

15,689

15,689

15,689

5

5,401

5,401

5,401

5

21,090

21,090

21,090

654

379

375

654

379

375

128,726

129,426

129,426

5

152

-

-

7

1,900

1,900

1,900

5

609

609

609

5

131,387

131,935

131,935

Museum services
Museum of New Zealand Te
Papa Tongarewa
Ngā Taonga

Performing arts services
New Zealand Symphony
Orchestra
Royal New Zealand Ballet
Te Matatini
New Zealand Music
Commission

Promotion and support of the arts and film
Creative New Zealand
New Zealand Film Commission

Protection of taonga tūturu
Museums and conservation service
providers

6

Public Broadcasting Services
NZ On Air
Television New Zealand
Radio New Zealand International
Broadcasting Standards Authority
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Actual
expenditure
2016
$000
Total appropriations for output
expenses

Appropriation for other
expenses to be incurred by
the Crown
Commonwealth war graves
Development and
maintenance of War graves,
historic graves and
monuments
Treaty of Waitangi
Commemorations
Total appropriations for
other expenses to be
incurred by the Crown
Appropriations for capital
expenditure
Museum of New Zealand Te
Papa Tongarewa
Museum of New Zealand Te
Papa Tongarewa – Capital
Works
National War Memorial –
Capital Investment
National War Memorial Park
Transfer of Heritage Properties
to Heritage New Zealand
Total appropriations for
capital expenditure
Total non-departmental Vote
Arts, Culture and Heritage

Appropriation
voted*
$000

221,895

225,248

Location of
Actual
end-of-year
expenditure performance
2017 information*
$000
*
225,244

Actual
expenditure
2016
$000

Appropriation
voted*
$000

Actual
expenditure
2017
$000

Location of
end-of-year
performance
information**

3,117

2,559

2,558

6

457

775

563

6

283

288

283

6

3,857

3,622

3,404

3,000

3,000

3,000

4

10,000

10,000

10,000

4

89

500

213

5

1,421

600

497

5

-

25,000

22,750

5

14,510

39,100

36,460

240,262

267,970

265,108
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VOTE SPORT AND RECREATION
Appropriations for nondepartmental output expenses
Sports anti-doping

2,239

3,239

3,239

3

Sport and recreation programmes

19,151

19,151

19,151

2

High-performance sport

58,192

62,182

62,182

2

Total appropriation for output
expenses

79,582

84,572

84,572

44

44

44

6

Prime Minister’s sport scholarships

4,250

4,250

4,250

6

Total non–departmental
appropriations for other expenses
to be incurred by the Crown

4,294

4,294

4,294

Total non-departmental Vote Sport
and Recreation

83,876

88,866

88,866

Total non-departmental Vote Arts,
Culture & Heritage and Vote Sport
and Recreation

324,138

356,836

353,974

Total annual appropriations
Vote Arts, Culture & Heritage and
Vote Sport and Recreation

342,499

374,598

379,450

Appropriations for other expenses
to be incurred by the Crown
Miscellaneous grants

*This includes adjustments made in the Supplementary Estimates and Cabinet decisions made before 30 June 2017.
**The numbers in this column represent where the end-of-year performance information has been reported for each
appropriation administered by the Ministry, as detailed below:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.

The Ministry’s 2016/17 annual report.
Sport New Zealand’s 2016/17 annual report.
Drug Free Sport New Zealand’s 2016/17 annual report.
Te Papa’s 2016/17 annual report.
To be reported by the Minister for Arts, Culture and Heritage in the 2016/17 Minister’s Report on Non-Departmental
Appropriations.
No reporting due to an exemption obtained under section 15D of the PFA.
TVNZ was transferred to Vote Foreign Affairs and Trade on 1st October 2015. No performance reporting required
for 2016/17.
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Details of departmental multi-year appropriations
for the year ended 30 June 2017
Cultural Diplomacy International Programme
The Ministry has a departmental multi-year appropriation for the Cultural Diplomacy International
Programme. This appropriation is for management and delivery of an international cultural diplomacy
programme through a series of projects and activities primarily focussed on Asia and other regions
where New Zealand is pursuing free trade agreements. This appropriation commenced on 1 July 2015
and expires on 30 June 2020.

Actual 2017
$000
Vote arts, culture and heritage
Cultural Diplomacy International Programme
Original appropriation

8,345

Cumulative adjustments
Total adjusted appropriation

8,345

Cumulative actual expenditure 1 July

892

Current year actual expenditure

856

Cumulative actual expenditure 30 June

1,748

Appropriation remaining 30 June

6,597

Performance information for this appropriation has been reported by the Ministry for Culture and
Heritage in this Annual Report 2017/18.
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Details of non-departmental multi-year
appropriations
for the year ended 30 June 2017
Earthquake-prone Heritage Buildings
The Ministry has a non-departmental multi-year appropriation for supporting earthquake strengthening
of privately-owned heritage buildings. This appropriation commenced on 1 July 2016 and expires on
30 June 2020.
Actual
2017
$000
VOTE ARTS, CULTURE AND HERITAGE
Earthquake-prone Heritage Buildings
Original appropriation

10,200

Cumulative adjustments
Total adjusted appropriation

10,200

Cumulative actual expenditure 1 July 2016

-

Current year actual expenditure

-

Cumulative actual expenditure 30 June 2017

-

Appropriation remaining 30 June 2017

10,200

New Zealand Screen Production Grant
The Ministry has a non-departmental multi-year appropriation for providing grant assistance or equity
investments for New Zealand screen productions that meet the qualifying tests as determined by the
New Zealand Film Commission. This appropriation commenced on 1 July 2014 and expires on 30
June 2017.
Actual
2017
$000
VOTE ARTS, CULTURE AND HERITAGE
New Zealand Screen Production Grant
Original appropriation
Cumulative adjustments

83,750
(38,440)

Total adjusted appropriation

45,310

Cumulative actual expenditure 1 July 2016

19,905

Current year actual expenditure

24,887

Cumulative actual expenditure 30 June 2017

44,792

Appropriation remaining 30 June 2017

518
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Regional Culture and Heritage Fund
The Ministry has a non-departmental multi-year appropriation for providing contributions to capital
projects at regional cultural and heritage institutions. This appropriation commenced on 1 July 2016
and expires on 30 June 2019.
Actual
$000
$000
VOTE ARTS, CULTURE AND HERITAGE
Regional Culture and Heritage Fund
Original appropriation
Cumulative adjustments
Total adjusted appropriation

30,527
(180)
30,347

Cumulative actual expenditure 1 July 2016

-

Current year actual expenditure

10,827

Cumulative actual expenditure 30 June 2017

10,827

Appropriation remaining 30 June 2017

19,520

Performance information for these non-departmental multi-year appropriations has been reported by
the Minister for Arts, Culture and Heritage in the 2016/17 Minister’s Report on Non-Departmental
Appropriations.
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Statement of expenses and capital expenditure
incurred without, or in excess of, appropriation or
other authority
for the year ended 30 June 2017

2017
$000

Appropriation
voted
2016
$000

Unappropriated
expenditure
2016
$000

First World War Centenary

10,380

1,796

8,584

Total

10,380

1,796

8,584

Expenditure

VOTE ARTS, CULTURE AND
HERITAGE

The Ministry for Culture and Heritage leases the Dominion Museum Building to provide a venue for
the Great War Exhibition. The Ministry has reassessed the possible decommissioning obligations
should the exhibition be discontinued at the end of the Great War Centenary period, this has
resulted in an expense of $8.857 million being recognised at 30 June 2017. The resulting
unappropriated expenditure amounts to $8.584 million.

Statement of departmental capital injections
for the year ended 30 June 2017
The Ministry has not received any capital injections during the year without, or in excess of, authority.
(2016: nil).
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the readers of the Ministry for Culture and Heritage’s annual report for the year
ended 30 June 2017
The Auditor-General is the auditor of the Ministry for Culture and Heritage (the Ministry). The
Auditor-General has appointed me, Stephen Lucy, using the staff and resources of Audit
New Zealand, to carry out, on his behalf, the audit of:


the financial statements of the Ministry on pages 55 to 72, that comprise the statement of
financial position, statement of commitments, statement of contingent liabilities and
contingent assets as at 30 June 2017, the statement of comprehensive revenue and
expense, statement of changes in equity, and statement of cash flows for the year ended on
that date and the notes to the financial statements that include accounting policies and other
explanatory information;



the performance information prepared by the Ministry for the year ended 30 June 2017
on pages 11 to 48;



the statements of expenses and capital expenditure of the Ministry for the year ended
30 June 2017 on pages 86 to 94;



the schedules of non-Departmental activities which are managed by the Ministry on behalf
of the Crown on pages 73 to 85 that comprise:


the schedules of assets; liabilities; commitments; and contingent liabilities and
contingent assets as at 30 June 2017;



the schedules of expenses; and revenue for the year ended 30 June 2017;



the statement of trust monies for the year ended 30 June 2017; and



the notes to the schedules that include accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Opinion
In our opinion:


the financial statements of the Ministry on pages 55 to 72:


present fairly, in all material respects:






its financial position as at 30 June 2017; and
its financial performance and cash flows for the year ended on that date;
and

comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand in
accordance with Public Benefit Entity Standards.
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the performance information of the Ministry on pages 11 to 48:


presents fairly, in all material respects, for the year ended 30 June 2017:






what has been achieved with the appropriations; and
the actual expenses or capital expenditure incurred compared with the
appropriated or forecast expenses or capital expenditure; and

complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand.



the statements of expenses and capital expenditure of the Ministry on pages 86 to 94 are
presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with the requirements of section
45A of the Public Finance Act 1989.



the schedules of non-Departmental activities which are managed by the Ministry on behalf
of the Crown on pages 73 to 85 present fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with
the Treasury Instructions:


the assets; liabilities; commitments; and contingent liabilities and assets as at
30 June 2017;



expenses; and revenue for the year ended 30 June 2017; and



the statement of trust monies for the year ended 30 June 2017.

Our audit was completed on 2 October 2017. This is the date at which our opinion is expressed.
The basis for our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Chief
Executive and our responsibilities relating to the information to be audited, we comment on other
information, and we explain our independence.

Basis for our opinion
We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which
incorporate the Professional and Ethical Standards and the International Standards on Auditing
(New Zealand) issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Responsibilities of the auditor
section of our report.
We have fulfilled our responsibilities in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.
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Responsibilities of the Chief Executive for the information to be audited
The Chief Executive is responsible on behalf of the Ministry for preparing:


financial statements that present fairly the Ministry’s financial position, financial
performance, and its cash flows, and that comply with generally accepted accounting
practice in New Zealand.



performance information that presents fairly what has been achieved with each
appropriation, the expenditure incurred as compared with expenditure expected to be
incurred, and that complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand.



statements of expenses and capital expenditure of the Ministry, that are presented fairly, in
accordance with the requirements of the Public Finance Act 1989.



schedules of non-Departmental activities, in accordance with the Treasury Instructions, that
present fairly those activities managed by the Ministry on behalf of the Crown.

The Chief Executive is responsible for such internal control as is determined is necessary to enable the
preparation of the information to be audited that is free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.
In preparing the information to be audited, the Chief Executive is responsible on behalf of the
Ministry for assessing the Ministry’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Chief Executive is also
responsible for disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting, unless there is an intention to merge or to terminate the activities of the
Ministry, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so.
The Chief Executive’s responsibilities arise from the Public Finance Act 1989.

Responsibilities of the auditor for the information to be audited
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the information we audited, as a
whole, is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit carried out in
accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts or disclosures, and
can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the decisions of readers, taken on the
basis of the information we audited.
For the budget information reported in the information we audited, our procedures were limited to
checking that the information agreed to the Ministry’s Statement of Intent 2015-19 and the relevant
Estimates and Supplementary Estimates of Appropriations 2016/17, and the 2016/17 forecast
financial figures included in the Ministry’s 2015/16 Annual Report.
We did not evaluate the security and controls over the electronic publication of the information we
audited.
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As part of an audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. Also:


We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the information we audited,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.



We obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Ministry’s internal control.



We evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Chief Executive.



We evaluate the appropriateness of the reported performance information within the
Ministry’s framework for reporting its performance.



We conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting by
the Chief Executive and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Ministry’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the information we audited or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Ministry to cease to continue as
a going concern.



We evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the information we audited,
including the disclosures, and whether the information we audited represents the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Chief Executive regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.
Our responsibilities arise from the Public Audit Act 2001.

Other information
The Chief Executive is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included on pages 3 to 10 and 49 to 54, but does not include the information we
audited, and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the information we audited does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of audit opinion or assurance conclusion thereon.
Our responsibility is to read the other information. In doing so, we consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the information we audited or our knowledge obtained in
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on our work, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

Ministry for Culture and Heritage Annual Report 2016-17/

98

Independence
We are independent of the Ministry in accordance with the independence requirements of the
Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the independence requirements of
Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised): Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners issued by
the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board.
Other than in our capacity as auditor, we have no relationship with, or interests, in the Ministry.

S B Lucy
Audit New Zealand
On behalf of the Auditor-General
Wellington, New Zealand
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